Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

9-26-2018 1:15 PM

Regulation of Beta-Catenin by the CTLH Complex

Christopher Chiasson, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Schild-Poulter, Caroline, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Biochemistry © Christopher Chiasson 2018

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons

Recommended Citation

Chiasson, Christopher, "Regulation of Beta-Catenin by the CTLH Complex" (2018). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 5776. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5776

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

RanBPM is a highly conserved protein that has been shown to impact numerous cellular processes including migration, proliferation, and apoptosis. RanBPM exists in a multi-protein complex called the CTLH complex, which functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase. A putative member of the CTLH complex, WDR26, has been implicated in the Wnt pathway through regulating β -catenin protein levels. This study investigated whether β -catenin regulation is performed by the CTLH complex. WDR26 was confirmed as part of the CTLH complex, and this complex is interacting with Axin1. CTLH members RanBPM and RMND5A both regulate beta-catenin levels in a proteasome dependent manner. Additionally, this regulation affected downstream expression of β -catenin target genes. Together these results have revealed a potential target of the CTLH complex and suggests a novel mechanism that regulates Wnt signalling. This study has revealed new insights into the CTLH complex functioning as a novel tumour suppressor.

Keywords

RanBPM, RMND5A, CTLH Complex, Ubiquitination, Protein Regulation, Degradation, Wnt Pathway, β-catenin.

Co-Authorship Statement

This thesis was written entirely by Christopher Chiasson and was edited by Caroline Schild-Poulter. All experiments contributing to this thesis were performed by Christopher Chiasson except for the following;

- HeLa cell lines stabling expression RanBPM shRNA and non-targeting control shRNA were generated by Dawn Bryce.
- Immortalized mouse embryonic fibroblast cell lines either wild-type or RanBPM deficient were generated by Xu Wang.
- HeLa RMND5A and non-targeting control CRISPR-Cas9 Knockout cell lines were generated by Xu Wang, Matthew Maitland and Katrina Cirone.
- Proteasomal inhibition of RanBPM shRNA and control shRNA HeLa cell lines were conducted by Christina McTavish.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Caroline Schild-Poulter for giving me this opportunity to work and learn in your lab. Your guidance over the past two years has helped me grow as a scientist and person. Your input has been invaluable and has help me achieve this great milestone. I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. David O'Gorman and Dr. David Rodenhiser for your feedback and recommendations that kept me moving in the right direction.

I would like to thank the entire CSP lab for the invaluable support you have given me throughout this journey. The friendships that were gained during this period will last a lifetime and it has been an honour working with you.

Table of Contents

Abstract i
Co-Authorship Statementii
Acknowledgmentsiii
Table of Contents iv
List of Tablesvii
List of Figures viii
List of Abbreviationsix
Chapter 11
1 Introduction
1.1 Cancer
1.2 RanBPM
1.2.1 Overview
1.2.2 Conserved Domains and Structure
1.2.3 Role in Transcriptional Regulation
1.2.4 Role in Apoptosis
1.2.5 RanBPM in Migration, Adhesion and Morphology
1.2.6 RanBPM in Cancer
1.3 The CTLH Complex
1.4 Ubiquitination Overview
1.5 The Wnt Signalling Pathway 12
1.5.1 β-Catenin Overview12
1.5.2 β-catenin regulation
1.5.3 Activation of Wnt Signalling
1.6 Hypothesis and Objectives
Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods			. 17	
2.1 Chemical Reagents			cal Reagents	. 17
		2.1.1	DNA Constructs and Cloning	. 17
		2.1.2	In vitro assays	. 17
	2.2	Cell C	ulture, Transfections and Treatments	. 18
	2.3	HeLa l	RMND5A CRISPR Knockout Clones	. 19
	2.4	Prepar	ation of Cell Extracts	. 20
	2.5	Wester	rn Blot Analysis	. 21
	2.6	Antibo	dies	. 21
		2.6.1	Primary Antibodies	. 21
		2.6.2	Secondary Antibodies	. 21
	2.7	In vitre	9 Experiments	. 23
		2.7.1	Immunoprecipitation Experiments	. 23
		2.7.2	Immunofluorescence	. 23
		2.7.3	Luciferase Assay	. 24
	2.8	Statisti	ical Analysis	. 24
Chapter 3			. 25	
3 Results		ults		. 25
3.1 Overview			iew	. 25
3.2 WDR26 is Part of the CTLH complex		WDR2	26 is Part of the CTLH complex	. 26
		3.2.1	Disrupted WDR26 and Core CTLH Members Show Similar Pattern of Target Tissues	. 26
		3.2.2	WDR26 is localized to the cytoplasm and interacts with the CTLH complex	. 27
	3.3 Endogenous Axin Co-Immunoprecipitates with CTLH members			. 29
	3.4	RanBP	M Negatively Regulates β-Catenin Protein Levels	. 32
		3.4.1	β-catenin is Elevated in RanBPM Downregulated Cells	. 32

	3.4.2 RanBPM May Regulate β -catenin Indirectly Through the Proteasome 3	2
	3.5 CTLH member RMND5A Negatively Regulates β-Catenin Protein Levels	3
	3.6 CTLH complex members affect β -catenin target gene expression	6
	3.6.1 Downregulation of RanBPM leads to increased β-catenin nuclear localization	6
	3.6.2 RMND5A regulates β-catenin target gene expression	7
	3.7 The CTLH complex may promote β-catenin ubiquitination	2
C	hapter 4 4	5
4	Discussion 4	5
	4.1 Summary of findings	5
	4.2 WDR26 interacts with the CTLH complex	5
	4.3 The CTLH complex may be a regulator of the canonical Wnt signalling pathway meditated proteasomal degradation	6
	4.4 Regulation of β -catenin is independent of the Axin degradation complex	9
	4.5 Limitation of the study and future work	0
	4.6 Conclusion	3
5	References	5
6	Appendices	4
C	urriculum Vitae	5

List of Tables

Table 1. List of cell lines used in experiments	19
Table 2. Concentrations of antibodies used in western blot analysis	22

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic Diagram of RanBPM
Figure 1.2 Proposed topology of the CTLH complex10
Figure 1.3 Overview of β-catenin regulation
Figure 3.1. Analysis of tissues affected from alterations of WDR26 and core CTLH members as determined by the international cancer genome consortium
Figure 3.2 WDR26 localizes to the cytoplasm and interacts with the CTLH complex30
Figure 3.3 Endogenous Axin Co-Immunoprecipitates with RanBPM and core CTLH members31
Figure 3.4 β-Catenin protein levels are elevated in RanBPM downregulated cell lines
Figure 3.5 Overexpression of RanBPM decreases β-catenin protein levels
Figure 3.6 β -Catenin is regulated by the proteasome through RanBPM
Figure 3.7 RMND5A regulates β-catenin protein levels
Figure 3.8 Rescue of RMND5A restores β-catenin Regulation
Figure 3.9 Downregulation of RanBPM causes increase nuclear localization of β-catenin41
Figure 3.10 RMND5A regulates β-catenin target gene expression
Figure 3.11 The CTLH complex may promote ubiquitination of β-catenin
Figure 4.1 Potential mechanisms of CTLH mediated β-catenin regulation

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 Raw β-	-catenin and Renilla reporter d	ata64
-------------------	---------------------------------	-------

List of Abbreviations

ANOVA	one-way analysis of variance
APC	adenomatous polyposis coli
AR	androgen receptor
ARMc8	armadillo repeat containing 8
ATCC	American type culture collection
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
Αβ	amyloid-beta
BARL	β-catenin activated reporter luciferase
Bax	Bcl-2-associated X protein
Bcl-2	B cell lymphoma 2
Bcl-X _L	B cell lymphoma extra large
BLT2	leukotriene B4 receptor 2
β-catenin	beta-catenin
β-Gal	beta-galactosidase
β-Me	beta-mercaptoethanol
β-TrCP	beta-transducin repeat containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase
CDK11p ⁴⁶	caspase-processed C-terminal domain of cyclin-dependent kinase 11
cDNA	complementary DNA
CK1	casein kinase 1
CRA	CT11-RanBPM
CRISPR	clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CTLH	C-terminal to LisH
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	dithiothreitol

Dvl	dishevelled
ECM	extracellular matrix
EDD	E3 ubiquitin ligase identified by differential display
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EMT	epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ERK	extracellular signal-related kinase
FAP	familial adenomatous polyposis
FBPase	fructose-1,6-bisphophatase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FOX	Forkhead box
Fz	Frizzled receptor
GID	glucose induced degradation deficient
GR	glucocorticoid receptor
Grb2	growth factor receptor bound protein 2
GSK3β	glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
GTPase	guanosine triphosphatase
HA	human influenza hemagglutinin
HAT	histone acetyltransferase
HBP1	HMG box containing protein 1
HDAC6	histone deacetylase 6
HEPES	hydroxyethyl piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HMG	high mobility group
HSP90	heat shock protein 90
ICGC	international cancer genome consortium
ICL1	isocitrate lyase
IR	ionizing radiation

JADE-1	gene for apoptosis and differentiation in epithelia 1
JNK2	Jun N-terminal kinase 2
KDM2a/b	lysine demethylase 2a/b
LEF	lymphoid enhancer factor
LFA-1	lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
LisH	lissencephaly type-1-like homology
LRP5/6	LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6
MAEA	macrophage erythroblast attacher
MDH2	malate dehydrogenase
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast
MET	mesenchymal epithelial transition factor
MG132	N-carbobenzoxyl-L-leucinyl-L-leucinyl-L-leucinal
NFAT	nuclear factors of activated T-cells
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NP-40	Nonidet P-40
P75NTR	p75 neurotrophin receptor
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PARylate	poly-ADP-ribosylate
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
РІЗК	phosphoinositide-3-kinase
РКСб	protein kinase C-delta
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
PVDF	polyvinylidene fluoride
RAC1	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1

RAF	rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma
Ran	Ras related nuclear
RanBP9	Ran binding protein 9
RanBPM	Ran binding protein microtubule organization center
RAS	rat sarcoma
RING	really interesting new gene
RIPA	radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RIPK4	receptor-interaction protein kinase 4
RMND5A	required for meiotic nuclear division 5 homolog A
RYR	ryanodine receptor calcium-release channel
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
sgRNA	single-guide RNA
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
SIAH-1	Seven in Absentia homolog-1
siRNA	short interfering RNA
SplA	spore lysis A
SPRY	spore lysis A and ryanodine receptor
Src	sarcoma
STRING	Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins
TAF4	TATA box binding protein-associated 4
TBST	Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20
TCF	T-cell factor
TFBS	transcription factor binding site
TFIID	transcription factor II D
TLE1	transducin like enhancer-1
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
TP53	tumour protein p53

TNKS2	Tankyrase-2
TR	thyroid hormone receptor
TRAF6	tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6
TRIM33	tripartite motif-containing protein 33
TRIS	Tris-hydroxymethyl amino methane
TrkA	tropomyosin kinase A
TUBE	tandem ubiquitin binding entities
TWA1	two hybrid-associated protein 1 with RanBPM
TX100	Triton X-100
WDR26	WD repeat-containing protein 26
Wnt	wingless-integrated
WRE	Wnt responsive element

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

1.1 Cancer

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death in Canada, and it is estimated that one in two Canadians will develop cancer within their lifetime with one of four dying of the disease (1). Over the past three decades, the advancement in technology and scientific research of cancer has decreased the mortality rates for all forms of cancer (1). In spite of decreasing mortality rates, cancer-related deaths have been increasing and are expected to continue as our population grows in number and age (1). To combat this increased incidence, further advancements must be made into understanding the complex disease of cancer to provide more effective diagnoses and treatments.

Initially, tumorigenesis was only linked to genomic alterations such as single deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) mutations or the complete loss or duplication of genetic material (2). However, recent discoveries in the growing field of epigenomics has revealed that epigenetic changes such as DNA methylation, histone acetylation, or chromosomal rearrangement also promote tumorigenesis (3). It is the multi-step accumulation of these genomic and epigenomic changes that promotes the transformation of a normal human cell to a cancerous cell (3). During carcinogenesis, there are six targeted processes commonly altered presenting what we know as the six hallmarks of cancer (4). These hallmarks consist of: the abilities to evade growth suppression, resist cell death, enable replicative immortality, provide sustained proliferative signalling, induce angiogenesis and promote invasion and metastasis (4). While each hallmark may individually contribute to cancer progression, not all are required for the transformation of a normal cell to cancerous cell (4). Different hallmarks may be displayed within a heterogeneous collection of cancer cells, while the same cell may display different hallmarks at different times of cancer progression (4). Thus, each cancer may display a unique and changing pattern of hallmarks and genomic alterations increasing the complexity of, and difficulty in treating cancer. To effectively treat cancer, we need to understand the underlying mechanism of how a cell activates these hallmark pathways.

While many proteins and targets have already been identified and used to design new strategies for cancer therapy, there is still much to discover. This study investigates the role that the Ran-binding protein microtubule organization center (RanBPM) plays in the regulation of the signal transduction molecule beta-catenin (β -catenin) of the wingless-integrated (Wnt) pathway.

1.2 RanBPM

1.2.1 Overview

RanBPM, also known as RanBP9, was originally identified in 1998 through a yeast twohybrid assay as a 55 kDa protein and the ninth member of the Ras-related nuclear (Ran) protein family (5). Ran proteins are guanosine triphosphatases (GTPases) of the rat sarcoma (Ras) superfamily and are involved in nuclear transport during interphase, mitotic spindle formation during mitosis, and are co-activators of the androgen receptor (6). RanBPM was first reported to interact with Ran, localize to the centrosome and was believed to assist in microtubule nucleation (5).

These findings were later dismissed as it was discovered the 55 kDa protein was a truncated version of the full length 90 kDa RanBPM (7). The full length RanBPM only weakly interacted with Ran and no longer localized to the centrosome (7). Instead, the full length RanBPM was found to be a ubiquitously expressed nucleocytoplasmic protein possessing a number of highly conserved domains, however these did not confer any enzymatic activity (8). Since its discovery, RanBPM has been demonstrated to influence several cellular processes including apoptosis, cell adhesion and migration, gene transcription and metastasis (9-23). Although it has no enzymatic activity, RanBPM instead functions as a scaffold protein and impacts these pathways through mediating protein-protein interactions (22, 24).

1.2.2 Conserved Domains and Structure

RanBPM has five conserved domains that contribute to its protein-protein interactions; the N-terminal proline-glutamine domain, the spore lysis A and ryanodine receptor domain (SPRY), the lissencephaly type-1-like homology domain (LisH), the C-Terminal to LisH domain (CTLH) and the C-terminal CT11-RanBPM domain (CRA) (Figure 1.1) (25). The N-terminal domain of RanBPM consists of a highly disordered proline and glutamine rich region (7). Polyglutamine proteins have previously been described to be pathogenic and form aggresomes around the centromere and attributed to neurodegenerative disease (26, 27). While RanBPM does contribute to aggresome formation, it is known that it achieves this by interacting with histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) via the LisH/CTLH domains (28).

Additionally, the proline rich region of the N-terminal domain contains six SH3-binding domains, which are predicted to have high affinity for the sarcoma (Src) and growth factor receptor bound protein 2 (Grb2) proteins (29, 30). The SPRY domain was first identified as being homologous to regions within the *Dictyostelium* discoideum, spore lysis A (SplA) kinase and the mammalian ryanodine receptor calcium-release channels (RyR) (31). The function of the SPRY domain is poorly understood, however many SPRY containing proteins harbour a really interesting new gene (RING) domain, which is characteristic of an E3 ubiquitin ligase (31). The LisH and CTLH domains are to the C-terminus of the SPRY domain. Both domains are predicted to have α -helical topology and together may form a unique globular domain responsible for regulating protein-protein interactions and microtubule dynamics (32-34). Lastly, the C-Terminal CRA domain is predicted to have six α -helices which is characteristic of the death domain superfamily (32).

1.2.3 Role in Transcriptional Regulation

Through its protein interacting domains, RanBPM has been demonstrated to influence several cellular processes, including transcriptional regulation. Performing a microarray analysis on cells stably expressing RanBPM shRNA or non-targeting control shRNA revealed a widespread change in gene expression upon downregulation of RanBPM (19). It was found that many genes affected had similar transcription factor binding sites in their promoter regions. The High Mobility Group (HMG), Forkhead (FOX) and Homeobox families of transcription factors were overrepresented among the promoters of genes affected by RanBPM downregulation (19). These families are known to have in important role in both development and tumorigenesis (19).



Figure 1.1. Schematic Diagram of RanBPM. The conserved domains of RanBPM are shown: The SPRY (spore lysis A and ryanodine receptor) domain; the LisH (lissencephaly type-1-like homology) domain; the CTLH (C-terminal to LisH) domain; and the CRA (CT11-RanBPM) domain. Figure is adapted from (22).

Additionally, RanBPM has been shown to be a potent transcriptional co-activator for the glucocorticoid (GR), androgen (AR), and thyroid hormone (TR) nuclear receptors (21,35). RanBPM is also a cofactor for the TATA box binding protein-associated factor 4 (TAF4), a subunit of transcription factor II D (TFIID), a coactivator of several transcription factors and nuclear receptors (36).

RanBPM was shown to interact with tropomyosin kinase A (TrkA) and negatively regulate nerve growth factor activated nuclear factors of activated T-cells (NFAT)-dependent transcription (37). Additionally, RanBPM is a negative regulator of the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) pathway. RanBPM has been reported to bind to TND receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) to inhibit auto-ubiquitination and activation of NF-kB signalling (38). Together, these exemplify the role RanBPM plays as both a positive and negative regulator of transcriptional regulation through the direct interaction with transcription factors or the indirect targeting of upstream trans-regulatory elements. However, the exact mechanism of how RanBPM achieves this transcriptional regulation remains unknown.

1.2.4 Role in Apoptosis

RanBPM has also been demonstrated to play a role in the activation of apoptosis. RanBPM promotes cell death through caspase-3 activation mediated by the CRA domain, which as previously mentioned resembles the death domain superfamily (10, 32). Caspase-3 activation is regulated by B cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) family proteins. These proteins function to regulate the intrinsic apoptotic pathway through the interaction of both inhibitors and activators of cell death (39). In response to DNA damage, proapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins function to release cytochrome *c* from the mitochondrial membrane in order to promote caspase activation and trigger cell death (39). It is through this intrinsic pathway that RanBPM regulates apoptosis. Cells with stably downregulated RanBPM showed increased resistance to cell death following treatment with ionizing radiation (IR) (10). Similarly, reduced RanBPM provides resistance to chemotherapeutic agents in gastric cancer cells (23). It was found the downregulated RanBPM cells had an increase in expression of anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and B cell lymphoma extra large (Bcl-X_L) while there was a decrease in mitochondria-associated Bcl-2-associated X protein (Bax), a pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family protein (10). Together these lead to a significantly reduced induction of caspase-3 and apoptosis. Conversely, overexpression of RanBPM has been shown to decrease Bcl-2 protein levels, increase Bax oligomerization at the mitochondrial membrane increasing the permeability and release of cytochrome *c* to activate apoptosis (11, 22). Lastly, overexpression of RanBPM in transgenic mice resulted in impaired mitochondrial function, and potentiated amyloid- β (A β)-induced apoptosis (40).

RanBPM's regulation of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway may be mediated through its protein-protein interactions with factors that regulate apoptotic activation. For instance, RanBPM interacts with p75 neurotrophic receptor (p75NTR), a member of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily (41). While p75NTR has a dichotomous role in promoting both cell survival and apoptosis, it is suggested that RanBPM may act as an adaptor protein that mediates p75NTR-induced apoptosis as it interacts with p75NTR's cytoplasmic death domain (41). Additionally, RanBPM is known to interact with the Cterminal domain of cyclin-dependent kinase 11 (CDK11^{p46}) (42). CDK11^{p46} is the caspase-processed product of the larger CDK11^{p110} isoform, and is known to promote apoptosis, however the mechanism of CDK11^{p46} apoptotic activation is unclear (42). However, in these studies, the functional outcome of RanBPM's interaction with p75NTR and CDK11^{p46} was not investigated, thus its role in influencing the apoptotic process through these two pathways is unclear. Lastly, RanBPM interacts with and stabilizes the tumour suppressor p73 by preventing its ubiquitination and subsequent degradation (12). The overexpression of RanBPM was shown to increase p73 mRNA levels and loss of RanBPM blocked p73-induced apoptosis (11). While the mechanism may not be fully understood, these studies indicate RanBPM has a pro-apoptotic affect and may regulate the apoptotic pathway in multiple ways.

1.2.5 RanBPM in Migration, Adhesion and Morphology

RanBPM has also been reported to regulate cellular adhesion, morphology and migration. One way this is accomplished is through its direct interaction with the β -integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) receptor (18). Integrins have an important role in cell adhesion and migration where they are responsible for attaching the cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix (ECM) (43). They also function to transmit information from the ECM into the cell and control the activation of several signalling pathways (43). Overexpression of RanBPM was shown to increase endocytosis and internalization of β-integrin proteins resulting in decreased cell adhesion and spreading (44). Alternatively, upon knockdown of RanBPM, β-integrin levels increased at the cell surface promoting cell adhesion and spreading (44). RanBPM also prevents focal adhesion signalling and assembly by preventing the localization of cell adhesion proteins to focal adhesion points (44). Similarly, RanBPM was shown to prevent cell adhesion and affected cell morphology in female germline stem cell niche in *Drosophila* (13). RanBPM also interacts with Plexin-A1 receptor, and when RanBPM was overexpressed, cell spreading was reduced, and cells appeared irregularly contracted (45). Lastly, recent studies have shown RanBPM to form a complex with Muskelin, and the knockdown of either RanBPM or Muskelin resulted in an enlarged and protrusive cell perimeter (46).

RanBPM has been shown to both positively and negatively affect cell migration. RanBPM is known to interact with the mesenchymal epithelial transition factor tyrosine kinase (MET) and activate the extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) pathway, which in turn promotes cell migration (16). On the other hand, RanBPM has been shown to inhibit leukotriene B4 receptor 2 (BLT2)-mediated migration, where overexpression of RanBPM inhibited chemotactic migration (47). Our laboratory has demonstrated that downregulation of RanBPM led to increased cell migration in a wound healing scratch assay (20). A recent study in gastric cancer cells has shown that the downregulation of RanBPM led to a decrease in cell adhesion, increased cell migration and was commonly found downregulated in metastatic gastric tumours compared to non-metastatic tumours (23). Together, the function of RanBPM in maintaining adhesion and morphology and its opposing role in migration indicate its importance for normal physiological development as well as pathogenesis.

1.2.6 RanBPM in Cancer

As previously described, cancer progression is linked to six hallmarks including but not limited to proliferative signalling, evasion of apoptosis, invasion and metastasis (4). Previous studies have suggested that the dysregulation of RanBPM may promote these three hallmarks of cancer (9-23). The microarray analysis on cells with stably downregulated RanBPM showed 167 differentially expressed genes, with over one third of these genes being associated with cancer (19). Notably, pathways affected by RanBPM downregulation included the ERK, wingless-integrated (Wnt), Notch and phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) pathways (19). These pathways are known to regulate proliferation, cell cycle progression, growth, survival and are commonly dysregulated in cancer (48-51).

Further characterization of RanBPM in our laboratory has revealed a tumour suppressive role for RanBPM through the inhibition of ERK signalling (20). RanBPM was shown to interact with and down regulate rapidly accelerating fibrosarcoma (RAF) protein levels, preventing its binding to heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90), subsequently preventing the activation of ERK1 (20). This in turn downregulated anti-apoptotic BCL-2 family proteins both at the transcriptional and protein level (10, 20). As such, downregulation of RanBPM caused an increase in anti-apoptotic proteins, decreasing mitochondrial permeabilization, and provided these cells the ability to evade apoptosis (10).

Additionally, studies have implicated a role for RanBPM in regulating cellular migration and metastasis. RanBPM has been shown to interact with histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) through its LisH and CTLH domains and to negatively regulate its deacetylase activity (28). HDAC6 is a cytoplasmic deacetylase necessary to the formations of aggresomes and when overexpressed is known to promote cellular transformation and metastasis (28, 52). Similarly, in gastric cancer cells, the downregulation of RanBPM was associated with an increase in cell proliferation and motility (23). Additionally, metastatic gastric cancers were shown to have lower expression of RanBPM in distant metastatic tumours compared to non-distant metastatic tumours, further implicating RanBPM in the regulation of metastases (23). While many reports suggest RanBPM to play a tumour suppressive role, there have been contrasting studies suggesting it to function as an activator of ERK signalling (16). RanBPM has been shown to interact with the tyrosineprotein kinase MET mediated its SPRY domain, inducing the guanosine triphosphate (GTP) transfer to rat sarcoma (RAS), leading to the phosphorylation and activation of ERK1 (16). This indicates a more complex role of RanBPM in tumorigenesis that may be cell-type or cancer stage dependent.

1.3 The CTLH Complex

While previous studies have looked at RanBPM in isolation, when first characterized it was found to exist in a 670 kDa protein complex (7). This was later identified to be a seven-member complex comprised of two-hybrid-associated protein 1 with RanBPM (TWA1), Muskelin, armadillo repeat containing 8 (ARMC8) α and β , required for meiotic nuclear division homologue A (RMND5A), macrophage erythroblast attacher (MAEA) and RanBPM (Figure 1.2) (53). It was given the name the C-terminal to LisH (CTLH) complex as each member, other than ARMC8 α/β , contains a CTLH and LisH domain (53). Apart from Muskelin, each member of the CTLH complex has a homologous protein in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (54). Together, in *S. cerevisiae* these form the glucose induced degradation deficient (GID) complex which contains WD repeat-containing protein 26 (WDR26) or GID7, in the place of Muskelin (54). While the initial characterization of the CTLH complex did not find WDR26, more recent studies suggest it exists in the CTLH complex (55, 56).

The yeast GID complex is a E3 ubiquitin ligase with a role in regulating glucose metabolism (54). When yeast cells are switched from an ethanol carbon source to a glucose media, the GID complex becomes activated and targets fructose-1-6-bisphosphatase (FBPase), a key enzyme in the gluconeogenic pathway, for ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation (54, 57). Targeting FBPase upon reintroduction of glucose allows yeast to utilize glycolysis over gluconeogenesis. Interestingly, three members of the GID complex, GID1, GID4 and GID5, also participate in the vacuolar proteolytic system, an alternative pathway which also triggers the degradation of FBPase (58).



Figure 1.2 Proposed topology of the CTLH complex. The CTLH complex consists of the Scaffolding protein RanBPM (Ran binding protein microtubule organization center), with required for meiotic nuclear division homologue A (RMND5A), macrophage erythroblast attacher (MAEA), two-hybrid-associated protein 1 with RanBPM (TWA1), Muskelin, armadillo repeat containing 8 α and β (ARMC8 α/β), and Muskelin. Each protein is labelled with its corresponding *S. cerevisiae* homologue (indicated in parentheses). It is hypothesized to also comprise of WD repeat 26 (WDR26) and C17orf39, the mammalian homologue to the *S. cerevisiae* GID4, however these have yet to be confirmed as part of the complex. Figure adapted from (22).

A recent study has revealed one GID member, GID4, to be the recognition component of the GID complex (59). GID4 is absent from yeast cells when grown in ethanol, but upon introduction of glucose it is rapidly synthesized which coincides with the degradation of FBPase (59). It was determined that GID4 specifically recognizes the N-terminal proline of FBPase, as well as recognizing and targeting isocitrate lyase (Icl1) and malate dehydrogenase (Mdh2), two additional gluconeogenic enzymes, for ubiquitination (59).

Two members of the GID complex, GID2 (RMND5A) and GID9 (MAEA), contain RING zinc finger domains, which is the functional domain conferring E3 ubiquitin ligase activity (54, 60, 61). RING-type E3 ligases function together with an E2 ubiquitinconjugating enzyme to mediate the transfer of a ubiquitin onto a target substrate (61). While both GID subunits contain RING domains, only GID2 has successfully been shown to have *in vitro* ubiquitin ligase activity (54, 60). However, GID9 is required for GID2 ubiquitination activity *in vivo*, as mutations made to the RING domain of GID9 abolishes the FBPase ubiquitination by GID2 following a switch to a glucose-rich media (60).

While the GID complex appears to be conserved in the mammalian CTLH complex, which also contains two RING domain containing proteins, RMND5A (GID2) and MAEA (GID9), the mammalian complex has yet to be shown to contain ubiquitination activity *in vivo* (25). However, recently through reconstituting each member, the CTLH complex ubiquitination activity has been demonstrated *in vitro* with HMG box-containing protein 1 (Hbp1) as a substrate (62).

A number of studies have also implicated components of the CTLH complex in the regulation of β -catenin (13, 19, 56, 63, 64). The putative CTLH member, WDR26, has previously been shown to interact with Axin1 and regulate β -catenin protein levels (63). A separate interactome study has revealed that WDR26, and all CTLH members to be an interacting partner with Axin1 (56). As previously mentioned, our laboratory has demonstrated that the downregulation of RanBPM results in dysregulation of genes within the Wnt signalling pathway (13). RanBPM has been shown to regulate β -catenin

protein levels in *Drosophila*, and ARMc8 α has been shown to interact with β -catenin and regulate α -catenin protein levels (19, 64). These previous studies implicating the CTLH complex with β -catenin regulation raises the question whether it could be a novel target of CTLH ubiquitination.

1.4 Ubiquitination Overview

The ubiquitination pathway provides an essential post-translational modification that regulates cellular signalling and protein turnover (65). Ubiquitin is a small 8.5 kDa protein that can be covalently linked to lysine residues of a protein substrate including itself (66). The addition of a single ubiquitin (mono-ubiquitination) can affect protein stability, cellular localization and protein-protein interactions (67, 68). Addition of multiple, or polyubiquitination, serves as a signal to target proteins for degradation by the 26S proteasome (69). This process requires three enzymes: ubiquitin activating enzymes (E1), ubiquitin conjugating enzymes (E2) and ubiquitin-protein ligases (E3) (70). The E1 activating enzyme uses adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to form a thiol-ester bond with the ubiquitin protein at its carboxyl terminus activating the ubiquitin. The activated ubiquitin is transferred to a E2 conjugating enzyme which transiently carries the ubiquitin and recruits an E3 ubiquitin ligase. The E3 ubiquitin ligase then transfers the ubiquitin from the E2 enzyme onto a specific lysine residue of a target substrate (70). The specificity of ubiquitination is driven by E3 ubiquitin ligases, of which over 600 are encoded in the human genome giving a diverse range of target substrates influencing a number of processes including protein trafficking, DNA repair and cell signalling (65). One pathway that is regulated by ubiquitination is the canonical Wnt signalling pathway.

1.5 The Wnt Signalling Pathway

1.5.1 β-Catenin Overview

 β -catenin is a 90 kDa, multi-functioning protein that is involved in both the regulation of gene transcription and cellular adhesion (71, 72). β -catenin was first discovered as an interacting partner to the cadherin family of proteins (73). Cadherins are a family of cell adhesion molecules that promote cell-cell adhesion through the formation of adherens junctions (74). β -catenin has been shown localize to adherens junctions and interact with

the cytoplasmic tail of E-cadherin forming a Cadherin- β -catenin complex (75, 76). It is thought that β -catenin indirectly mediates the interaction of the actin cytoskeleton with Ecadherin to promote cell-cell contact, and the loss of E-cadherin- β -catenin complex formation has been associated with increased epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (77).

Since its discovery, β -catenin has also been shown to play a crucial role in the Wnt signalling pathway (78). The Wnt signalling pathway is a key regulator of cellular proliferation, differentiation and is critical for embryonic development (72). β -catenin is required for the activation of Wnt targeted gene expression, and the dysregulation of β -catenin/Wnt signalling has been closely linked to the progression of Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), among various forms of cancer (79). See figure 1.3 for an overview of Wnt signalling and the regulation of β -catenin.

1.5.2 β-catenin regulation

In the absence of Wnt ligand, or in the Wnt "off" state, β -catenin is under strict regulation by the Axin degradation complex consisting of the proteins Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3-beta (GSK3 β) and Casein Kinase 1 (CK1) all bound to the Axin1 scaffolding protein (80). Together, this protein complex works to sequentially phosphorylate β -catenin at serine-45 (S45) by CK1 followed by GSK3 β phosphorylation at threonine-41 (T41) and serine-33 and -37 (80, 81). This phosphorylation pattern is recognized by the beta-transducin repeat containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (β -TrCP) which ubiquitinates and promotes β -catenin for degradation by the proteasome (82). While β -TrCP is the most common E3 ubiquitin ligase associated with β -catenin regulation, additional E3 ubiquitin ligases including Seven in Absentia Homologue 1 (SIAH-1) and the E3 ubiquitin ligase identified by Differential Display (EDD), have been shown to ubiquitinate β -catenin, revealing a more diverse mechanism to β -catenin regulation (83, 84).

1.5.3 Activation of Wnt signalling

The activation of the canonical Wnt signalling pathway occurs by one of six Wnt ligands (Wnt3, Wnt4, Wnt5b, Wnt7a, Wnt10a and Wnt10b) and requires both the Frizzled (Fz)

and the LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 (LRP5/6) receptors (72, 85, 86). Stimulation by Wnt ligands causes these receptors to form a Wnt-Fz-LRP5/6 complex and in turn recruits the intracellular scaffolding protein Dishevelled (Dvl) (87, 88). Dvl promotes the oligomerization of individual Wnt-Fz-LRP5/6 complexes at the cell membrane (88). LRP5/6 contains five PPPSPxS (P: Proline; S: Serine or Threonine; x: variable) phosphorylation motifs mimicking that of β -catenin (89). When these receptors are aggregated, the Axin degradation complex has a high affinity for these PPPSPxS motifs and will move to the cell membrane to phosphorylate LRP5/6. This essentially sequesters the Axin degradation complex at the cell membrane, allowing for β -catenin to accumulate (81, 90).

While the stabilization of β -catenin protein levels coincides with an increased nuclear presence, the exact mechanism for β -catenin translocation into the nucleus is not fully understood. It has been suggested that β -catenin contains a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and thus enters directly into the nucleus through nuclear pore proteins while β -catenin co-activators increase its retention in the nucleus (91, 92). More recent studies show that in addition to stabilization of β -catenin protein levels, activation of Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) is also required for β -catenin nuclear import (93). It is suggested that Rac1 forms a cytoplasmic complex with Jun N-terminal kinase 2 (JNK2) and β -catenin, and JNK2 phosphorylates β -catenin at serine 191 and 605 (S191/S605) promoting its nuclear import (93).

Upon nuclear translocation, β -catenin interacts with the T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor (TCF/LEF) family of transcription factors (94). TCF/LEF proteins are HMG DNAbinding factors that target and bind to Wnt responsive element (WRE) DNA sequences (95). In the absence of β -catenin, the TCF/LEF proteins interact with transducin-like enhancer 1 (TLE1) which functions to promote histone deacetylation of WREs, causing chromatin compaction and inhibiting gene expression (96). When interacting with TCF/LEF proteins, β -catenin directly displaces TLE1 and recruits a host of co-activators, including chromatin remodeling proteins and histone acetyltransferases (HAT), to enable gene expression (97, 98).



Figure 1.3 Overview of β-catenin regulation. A) In the absence of a Wnt signal, βcatenin is under strict regulation by the Axin degradation complex, which consists of the scaffolding protein Axin along with APC (adenomatous polyposis coli) protein, CK1 (casein kinase 1) and GSK3β (glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta). The Axin degradation complex functions to sequentially phosphorylate β-catenin. This phosphorylation is identified by the E3 ubiquitin ligase β-TrCP (beta-transducin repeat containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase), which polyubiquitinates β-catenin promoting it for degradation by the 26S proteasome. B) In the presence of a Wnt signal, the receptors LRP5/6 (LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6) and Frizzled dimerize and recruit the protein Dv1 (Dishevelled). Dv1 functions to recruit and sequester the Axin degradation complex at the cell membrane, allowing for β-catenin to accumulate, translocate into the nucleus where it activated Wnt target gene expression. Figure adapted from (72).

The dysregulation of β -catenin signalling has been associated with numerous forms of cancer including but not limited to colorectal cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, ovarian cancer and melanoma (72, 79, 85). The oncogenes MYC and CCND1 contain WREs and have been identified as targets of β -catenin signalling (99, 100). C-Myc is a key regulator for both cellular proliferation and metabolism while cyclin D1 is a key regulator of cell cycle progression, and individually can promote cancer progression when dysregulated (100, 101). Given β -catenin's role in regulating these oncogenic pathways, it is crucial to identify novel therapeutic mechanisms to potentially downregulate β -catenin.

1.6 Hypothesis and Objectives

Several studies have revealed CTLH members to interact with components of the Wnt signalling pathway and to regulate β -catenin levels, however how this regulation is achieved has yet been investigated. Thus, I hypothesize that the CTLH complex is an additional E3 ubiquitin ligase regulating the Wnt signalling pathway through the targeting of β -catenin for degradation. The outcome of this study is to address the following objectives:

1) To show that the putative member, WDR26, is part of the CTLH complex and this complex is interacting and/or co-localizing with Axin

2) To determine whether the CTLH complex regulates β -catenin protein levels

3) To determine whether the CTLH complex regulates Wnt/β -catenin target-gene expression

This work could potentially provide a novel way to target β -catenin for regulation, revealing a potential new therapeutic strategy in treating cancers characterized with oncogenic mutations in β -catenin/components of the Wnt pathway. The research performed in this study will examine the possible tumour suppressor role that the CTLH complex plays in negatively regulating Wnt/ β -catenin signalling.

Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemical Reagents

2.1.1 DNA Constructs and Cloning

pCMV-HA was purchased from ClonTech Laboratories Inc. (Currently known as Takara Bio USA, Inc.), pCMV-HA-RanBPM was provided by Dr. Mark Nelson (University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA). pCDNA3.1-HIS-FLAG-WDR26 was provided by Dr. Songhai Chen (University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA). A pGL3 luciferase vector containing a concatemer of 12 consecutive TCF response elements upstream of Promega's MinP minimal promoter, designated β-catenin Activate Reporter Luciferase (pBARL) was provided by Dr. Greg Kelly (University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada). pSV40-Renilla was purchased from Promega. The pCGN-HA-RMND5A was prepared by a previous Schild-Poulter Laboratory member by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplifying RMND5A from a complementary DNA (cDNA) library. RMND5A was ligated into a pCGN-HA vector using the enzymes *BamH1* and *Xba*. A pCMV-HA-Ubiquitin was received from Dr. Lina Dagnino (University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada).

2.1.2 In vitro assays

Sodium chloride (NaCl), potassium chloride (KCl), ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), hydroxyethyl piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), Tris-hydroxymethyl amino methane (Tris), hydrochloric acid (HCl), Tween-20 and sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) were purchased from Wisent Inc. (St. Bruno, QC, Canada). Nonidet P-40 (NP-40), TritonX-100 (TX100), phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), dithiothreitol (DTT), leupeptin, aprotinin, pepstatin, sodium fluoride (NaF) and sodium orthovanadate (Na₃VO₄) were purchased from Bioshop Inc. (Burlington, ON, Canada). Glycerol was purchased from Caledon Laboratory Chemicals Ltd. (Georgetown, ON, Canada).

2.2 Cell Culture, Transfections and Treatments

HeLa and HCT 116 cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). HeLa and HCT 116 cell lines stabling expressing RanBPM short-hairpin (shRNA) or non-targeting control shRNA were generated as previously described in (10, 20). The cell lines were grown in high-glucose DMEM (DMEM) (Wisent Inc.) supplemented with 8% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Wisent Inc.), 1% sodium pyruvate (Wisent Inc.), 1% L-glutamine (Wisent Inc.) and 4.5 g/L glucose and incubated at 37° C and 5% CO2. To maintain stable selection the HeLa and HCT 116 shRNA cells were grown in 0.35 g/L G418 sulphate (Bioshop Inc). Immortalized mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) deficient for RanBPM were generated by Schild-Poulter laboratory member Xu Wang using methods previously described (102). Mouse embryonic fibroblasts were grown in high-glucose DMEM with the same supplementation as above, with G418 sulphate being replaced with 0.1 mM of beta-mercaptoethanol (β ME). CaCo2 cells were generously provided by Dr. Tirona Rommel (University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada) and were grown in before mentioned high-glucose conditions supplemented with 1% penicillin-streptomycin (450-201-EL; Wisent Inc.). For a full list of cell lines used refer to Table 2.1.

Cells were cultured onto 6 or 10 cm plates for transfection and protein isolation. Plasmid transfections were performed using JetPRIME® Transfection Reagent (PolyPlus Transfection) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The amount of DNA used for each transfection is provided in figure legends. pBS-SK (Agilent Technologies) was used to supplement transfected DNA to the minimum amount if required.

CaCo2 cells were treated using RanBPM short-interfering RNA (siRNA) (AM16708A; Ambion) or control siRNA (4390843; Ambion) at a concentration of 10 nM. Ncarbobenzoxyl-L-leucinyl-L-leucinyl-L-leucinal (MG-132) (Bioshop Inc.) treatments were performed using MG-132 or dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Bioshop Inc.) as a vehicle at 10 µM for 6-24 h.

Table 2.1 List of cell lines used with cell type of origin and gene status of CTLH	ĺ
members, β -catenin and APC. B-catenin and APC status adapted from (112).	

Cell Type	Origin of Cell	CTLH Member Status	B-catenin Status	APC Status
HeLa	Cervical Carcinoma	Wild-Type RanBPM downregulated RMND5A -/-	Wild-type	Wild-Type
HCT116	Colorectal Carcinoma	Wild-Type RanBPM Downregulated	Wild-Type	Mutant
CaCo-2	Colorectal Carcinoma	Wild-Type	Mutant	Mutant
Mouse Embryonic Fibroblast	Fibroblast	Wild-Type RanBPM -/-	Wild-Type	Wild-Type

2.3 HeLa RMND5A CRISPR Knockout Clones

Required For Meiotic Nuclear Division 5 Homolog A (RMND5A) CRISPR knockouts were generated by Schild-Poulter laboratory members Xu Wang and Matthew Maitland. Single-guide RNA (sgRNA) were designed against exon 3 of RMND5A using www.benchling.com (On-target score = 65.7, Off-target score = 86.0). Top and bottom oligomers (5' – CACCGTGGAGCACTTCTTTCGACA – 3'; 5' –

AAACTGTCGAAAGAAGTGCTCCAC – 3') were annealed together and ligated with pSpCas9(BB)-2A-Puro (PX459) V2.0 that was digested with *BpiI*. Early passage wild-type HeLa cells were seeded on 12-well dishes and transfected with 800 ng of plasmid DNA. Forty-eight hours post-transfection, cells were put under puromycin selection for seven days. Afterwards, remaining single cells were transferred to a 48-well dish and expanded. Loss of RMND5A protein was confirmed by Western blot and DNA mutation was confirmed and the top off-target sites were checked for absence of mutations through sequencing.

2.4 Preparation of Cell Extracts

HeLa, HCT 116, MEF and CaCo2 cells were grown in 6 or 10 cm culture dishes to approximately 80% confluency. Briefly, the cells were washed thrice with cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Wisent Inc.) and were scraped into a small amount of the final wash for collection. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation for 5 minutes at 8000rpm. The supernatant was removed, and the cell pellets were lysed on ice for 25 minutes in whole cell extract (WCE) buffer (150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 50 mM HEPES pH 7.4, 10% glycerol, 0.5% NP-40, and 0.5% TX100), or radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris-HCL pH 8.0, 1% TX100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, and 0.1% SDS) supplemented with 0.1 mM PMSF, 1 mM DTT, 2 μ g/mL leupeptin, 10 μ g/mL aprotinin, 2.5 μ g/mL pepstatin, 2 mM NaF and 2 mM Na₃VO₄. After lysis the cells were centrifuged for 20 minutes at 13,000 rpm at 4^o C and the resulting supernatant was collected. Protein concentration was then quantified using a Bradford Protein Assay (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's protocol on an LKB Ultraspec 4050 (Biochrom).

2.5 Western Blot Analysis

Up to 50 µg of protein was resolved using SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Following separations, gels were transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes using a semi-dry Trans-Blot® Turbo (Bio-Rad) transfer system at 25V for 25 minutes. Membranes were blocked in 5% skim milk dissolved in Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20 (TBS-T; 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.15 M NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20) at room temperature for 1 h or overnight at 4^o C. Primary antibodies were hybridized overnight at 4^o C, or 2 h at room temperature. After primary hybridization, the membranes were washed three times in TBS-T for 10 minutes. Secondary antibodies were incubated at room temperature for 1 h, followed by another three 10-minute TBS-T washes. Membranes were developed using Clarity Western ECL Substrate (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.) and imaged using a ChemiDoc MP (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.).

2.6 Antibodies

2.6.1 Primary Antibodies

Primary antibodies used were β-Catenin (610154; BD Transduction Laboratories), Axin1 (C76H11; Cell Signaling Technology), Vinculin (E1E9V; Cell Signaling Technology), Beta-Actin (I-9; sc-1616-R; Santa Cruz), Human influenza hemagglutinin (HA; H9658; Sigma-Aldrich), FLAG (M2; F1804; Sigma-Aldrich), RanBPM (71-001; BioAcademia), RMND5A (NBP1-92337; Novus Biologicals), MAEA (AF7288; R&D Systems), ArmC8 (E-1; sc-365307; Santa-Cruz), Muskelin (C-12; sc-398956; Santa-Cruz), and WDR26 (ab85962; Abcam). Antibody concentrations can be found in Table 1.1.

2.6.2 Secondary Antibodies

Secondary antibodies used were peroxidase-conjugated AffiniPure Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L; Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc.), Blotting Grade Goat anti-Rabbit IgG Horseradish Peroxidase Conjugate (H+L; Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.), and Rabbit Anti-Sheep IgG Horseradish Peroxidase Conjugate (H+L; Bio-rad Laboratories Inc.). All secondary antibodies were used at a 1:5000 dilution.
Antibody	Species	Dilution
β-Catenin	Mouse	1:5000
Axin1	Rabbit	1:2000
B-Actin	Mouse	1:5000
Vinculin	Rabbit	1:10,000
НА	Rabbit	1:2000
FLAG	Mouse	1:2000
RanBPM	Rabbit	1:2000
RMND5A	Rabbit	1:100
MAEA	Sheep	1:250
Armc8	Mouse	1:100
Muskelin	Mouse	1:250
WDR26	Rabbit	1:1000

 Table 2.2 Concentrations used for primary antibodies in Western Blot Analysis

2.7 In vitro Experiments

2.7.1 Immunoprecipitation Experiments

For co-immunoprecipitation experiments, 1 mg of total protein was used and immunoprecipitates were isolated with Dynabeads Protein G (Invitrogen). Every 500 μ L of protein lysate was diluted with 800 μ L of binding buffer (150 mM NaCl, 25 mM HEPES pH 7.9, 0.5 mM EDTA, 12% glycerol and 0.1% NP-40) supplemented with 0.1 mM PMSF, 1 mM DTT, 2 μ g/mL leupeptin, 10 μ g/mL aprotinin, 2.5 μ g/mL pepstatin, 2 mM NaF and 2 mM Na₃VO₄. Samples were pre-cleared for one hour using one-eighth of total Dynabead Protein G volume. Pre-clear beads were removed, and the samples were incubated with up to 7 μ g of FLAG (M2; F1804; Sigma-Aldrich) or RanBPM (F-1; sc-271727; Santa-Cruz) antibodies overnight at 4^o C. Beads were washed three times with an immunoprecipitation (IP) wash buffer (25 mM HEPES pH 7.9, 60 mM KCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 0.25% NP-40 and 2% glycerol). Beads were resuspended in SDS loading dye (0.105 g/mL SDS, 0.093 g/mL DTT, 0.35 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, and 30% glycerol). The samples were then resolved and analyzed through western blot methods.

For *in vitro* ubiquitin assays, wild-type and RMND5A CRISPR knockout cells were transfected with a pMT123-HA-Ubiquitin plasmid. Twenty-hour hours after transfection, cells were incubated with 10 μ M MG132 for 6 hours. Cells were lysed in denaturing buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton-X, 1% SDS,10 mM NaF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄ and 25 mM NEM (N-Ethylamalide, Bioshop Canada, Burlington, ON, Canada)), and passed through a 23G needle ten times and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Lysates were diluted 1:10 in buffer A (50 mM Tris-HCL pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton-X, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄ and 25 mM NEM) and incubated in primary β-catenin antibody overnight at 4 ^oC, followed by incubation with Dynabeads for 1 hour. Beads were washed 3 times with buffer A, resuspended and bolding in SDS loading dye and separated through SGS-Page and analyzed through western blot methods.

2.7.2 Immunofluorescence

Cells were seeded onto coverslips in a 24-well plate and incubated overnight. Cells were washed three times in cold PBS then fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes.

Cells were permeabilized in 0.5% Triton-X100 for 10 minutes then blocked in 5% FBS diluted in PBS for 1 h at room temperature. Coverslips were incubated with β -Catenin (610154; BD Transduction Laboratories) antibody overnight at 4^o C with agitation. Coverslips were washed three times with cold PBS then incubated in the dark with antimouse Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen) for 1 hour. Cells were washed again three times with cold PBS then mounted using ProLong® Gold antifade with DAPI (Invitrogen). Visualization was performed using an Olympus BX51 microscope with a 40x objective and images were taken using Image-Pro Plus software (Media Cybernetics Inc.). For each experiment, at least 50 cells analyzed and quantified using ImageJ software.

2.7.3 Luciferase Assay

5 x 10⁴ cells were seeded into a 6-well plate and incubated overnight. Cells were cotransfected with pGL3-BARL and either pCMV-HA-Empty Vector or pCGN-HA-RMND5A. Cells were also transfected with either pSV40-Renilla or pCMV- β -Galactosidase as internal controls to normalize luciferase levels. Luciferase activity was measured using the Luciferase Assay System (E1500; Promega). Cells were collected 48 h after transfection and lysed in 1X Cell Culture Lysis Reagent for 15 minutes at room temperature. Immediately following lysis, 40 µL of cell lysates were added to 50 µL of Luciferase Assay Reagent in a 96-well micro-plate and activity was quantified using an Orion Microplate Luminometer (Berthold Detection Systems). Beta-galactosidase activity was measured using a Beta-Glo Assay System (E4270; Promega). Separately, 40 µL of cell lysate was added to 50 µL of Beta-Glo® Reagent and incubated for 30 minutes. Beta-galactosidase activity was quantified using an Orion Microplate Luminometer. pBARL luciferase activity was normalized to the β -galactosidase levels.

2.8 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad PRISM (GraphPad Software Inc.). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare multiple groups and twosample t-test assuming equal variance was used to compare individual groups. Graphed data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Values were determined to be significant when p < 0.05.

Chapter 3

3 Results

3.1 Overview

The GID homologue of the CTLH complex in *S. cerevisiae* is a well-documented E3 ubiquitin ligase that is responsible for promoting the polyubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of multiple gluconeogenic enzymes including FBPase, Icl1 and Mdh2 (54, 57, 59). GID1, the yeast counterpart of RanBPM, was shown to be crucial for this ubiquitination, as altering either the SPRY, LisH or CTLH domain of GID1 impaired the ubiquitination of FBPase. In addition to GID1, the RING domain containing subunits GID2 and GID9 were also required and conferred the enzymatic activity of the complex (54). Since these components are highly conserved to the mammalian CTLH complex, it is theorized that the CTLH complex may also function similarly as an E3 ubiquitin ligase (25). Despite being highly conserved, the CTLH complex has only recently been demonstrated to contain ubiquitination activity, and thus far only Hbp1 has been identified as a substrate (62). Hbp1 is not a gluconeogenic enzyme, so this suggests the CTLH complex may regulate different pathways than its *S. cerevisiae* homologue.

Previous studies have implicated multiple members of the CTLH complex to regulate β catenin, the signal transducer of the Wnt signalling pathway. As mentioned, the putative CTLH member WDR26 has been shown to interact with Axin1, and over expression of WDR26 caused a decrease in β -catenin protein levels (63). A separate study also showed that RanBPM regulates β -catenin in *Drosophila* where an increase in β -catenin protein levels were observed in RanBPM mutant cells (13). Together, this suggests that β -catenin may be regulated by the CTLH complex. However, we must first ascertain that WDR26 is part of the CTLH complex.

3.2 WDR26 is part of the CTLH complex

3.2.1 Disrupted WDR26 and core CTLH members show similar pattern of target tissues

Proper regulation of cell growth is maintained by cross-talk of intra- and extracellular signalling pathways including the Tumor protein 53 (p53), ERK and Wnt signalling pathways (103). Each has multiple components responsible for regulating pathway activation, but in many cases only one component is needed to be dysregulated for pathogenesis to occur. In context of the Wnt pathway, pathogenesis occurs through the activation of β -catenin, however this can occur through multiple mechanisms. Wnt pathway activation has been reported though activating mutations in β -catenin as well as dysregulation of components in the Axin degradation complex (112). Separate cases have demonstrated that deletion of Axin, GSK3 β or APC causes the upregulation of β -catenin (112). Furthermore, dysregulation of Axin, GSK3 β and APC commonly result in the development and progression of hepatocellular and colorectal carcinoma's (117-119). This suggests that proteins within one pathway, or complex, when dysregulated lead to a similar pathogenic outcome. Thus, we sought to determine the pathogenic outcome of dysregulated WDR26 in comparison to CTLH complex members to support the premise that WDR26 exists within the CTLH complex.

To achieve this, analysis of a large-scale cancer genomics data set was performed to assess the tissue distribution of mutations in WDR26 in comparison to other core CTLH members. Using the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC), data was collected assessing the number tissues harbouring a point mutation in WDR26, RanBPM, and Core CTLH members, MAEA and RMND5A. The number of nonsynonymous mutations with a predicted functional impact found in these genes in primary tumours were 94, 87, 83, and 10 respectively. All four members showed mutations occurring in liver, colorectal or stomach tissue at the highest frequency, accounting for 40% to 70% of total mutations (Figure 3.1). Having such a highly correlated pattern in targeted tissues suggest that these proteins may act within the same pathway, or complex. As a control, these were compared to the tumour suppressors p53 and phosphatase and tensin homolog

(PTEN). PTEN displayed mutations commonly occurring in breast, stomach and esophageal tissue while p53 was commonly mutated in uterine, brain and breast tissue, and contained 651 and 3966 mutations respectively (Figure 3.1). Having a unique distribution of mutations shared by all core CTLH members that differs from two independent proteins suggests that WDR26 may share a similar function to the CTLH complex and that this result is not due to a sampling bias if liver, colorectal and stomach were to be the largest data sets in the ICGC.

3.2.2 WDR26 is localized to the cytoplasm and interacts with the CTLH complex

A recent study using the Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins (STRING) database was performed assessing functional protein associations and determined that WDR26 was part of an interacting network with RanBPM and other CTLH members (56). However, in addition to known interactions, the STRING database uses computational methods to predict protein interactions, thus WDR26 interaction with the CTLH complex still needed to be confirmed. Previous studies investigating the cellular localization of RanBPM determined it was a nucleocytoplasmic protein and was found to localize with chromatin in the nucleus, as well as the plasma membrane (8, 22). The localization of other CTLH members has yet to be reported, however the LisH domain has been reported to be an important factor in determining localization and was shown to promote localization to actin fibers in the cytoplasm (106). Preliminary immunofluorescence experiments in our laboratory has indicated that all CTLH members are nucleocytoplasmic with a higher tendency to reside in the nucleus, with the exception of Muskelin, which was primarily cytoplasmic (120).

To determine the localization of WDR26, immunofluorescence experiments were performed by imaging ectopically expressed WDR26 in wild-type HeLa cells. A FLAGtagged WDR26 was transfected into wild-type HeLa cells and its subcellular localization evaluated 48h post-transfection. WDR26 was found to be primarily cytoplasmic, with up to 10 % imaged cells showing equal localization to the nucleus and cytoplasm (Figure



Figure 3.1. Analysis of tissues affected from alterations of WDR26 and core CTLH members as determined by the international cancer genome consortium. Using the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC), the number of primary tumours, per tissue type containing nonsynonymous point mutations in either *WDR26* (94) or *RanBPM* (87) and the Core CTLH members *RMND5A* (10) and *MAEA* (83) were scored and arranged in a pie chart with the percentage of tissues containing nonsynonymous point mutations ordered from most to least prevalent. Primary tumours, per tissue type, containing nonsynonymous point mutations in *PTEN* (651) and *TP53* (3966) were collected and compared to as controls.

3.2A, B). This suggests WDR26 is a nucleocytoplasmic protein and localizes to the same compartments as core CTLH members, thus could interact with the CTLH complex.

To determine if WDR26 associates with the CTLH complex, co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) experiments were carried out. FLAG-tagged WDR26 transiently transfected into wild-type HeLa cells was immunoprecipitated (IP) and the samples were analyzed using Western blot to evaluate the Co-IP of CTLH members. These immunoprecipitation experiments were compared to a control which consisted of un-transfected wild-type HeLa cells subjected to the same FLAG IP. All CTLH members tested, RanBPM, MAEA, RMND5A and Muskelin co-immunoprecipitated with FLAG-WDR26 while none of them were found in the un-transfected sample (Figure 3.2C). These results suggest that WDR26 associates with the CTLH complex *ex vivo*.

3.3 Endogenous Axin Co-Immunoprecipitates with CTLH members

Previously, a study identified that mammalian WDR26 interacts with Axin1 through a co-immunoprecipitation of ectopically expressed WDR26 and Axin in HEK 293 cells (63). In addition to this, STRING analysis of Axin immunocomplexes predicted the interaction of WDR26 with the CTLH complex, also predicted all CTLH complex members to be an interacting partner with Axin1 (56). To confirm this, additional Co-IP experiments were performed to IP endogenous RanBPM from wild-type HeLa cells, followed by Western blot analysis. In the first instance, endogenous RanBPM immunoprecipitates were analyzed to test the presence of Axin. RanBPM was successfully immunoprecipitated and showed endogenous Axin to Co-IP (Figure 3.3A). This IP was repeated and endogenous Axin again co-immunoprecipitated, along with CTLH members ARMC8α and MAEA (Figure 3.3B). These results suggest that not only WDR26 but the whole CTLH complex is associating with Axin.



Figure 3.2 WDR26 localizes to the cytoplasm and interacts with the CTLH complex.

(A) Representative images of ectopically expressed WDR26 in HeLa wild-type cells. pCMV-FLAG-WDR26 was transfected in wild-type HeLa cells. Cells were fixed 24 h after transfection and incubated using a FLAG antibody and then an Alexa Fluor 488 secondary antibody (green). Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). (B) Subcellular localization was scored as either N>>C (nuclear much greater than cytoplasmic), N>C (nuclear greater than cytoplasmic), N=C (nuclear equal to cytoplasmic), N<C (cytoplasmic greater than nuclear) and N<<C (cytoplasmic much greater than nuclear). Data represents averages from three separate experiments each assessing a total of 50 cells. (C) Western blot analysis of co-immunoprecipitation of CTLH members following immunoprecipitation of FLAG tagged WDR26. pCMV-FLAG-WDR26 was transfected into HeLa wild-type cells and harvested after 24 hours. pCMV-FLAG-WDR26 transfected (+) or untransfected (-) extracts were subjected to immunoprecipitation with a FLAG antibody. Immunoprecipitates were analyzed by western blot.



Figure 3.3 Endogenous Axin Co-Immunoprecipitates with RanBPM and core

CTLH members. (A) Western blot analysis was performed to assess the coimmunoprecipitation of Axin following the immunoprecipitation of endogenous RanBPM. (B) A second immunoprecipitation of endogenous RanBPM was performed to confirm Axin Co-IP and assess the co-immunoprecipitation with core CTLH complex members. All immunoprecipitations were performed using 1mg of protein while 5% (50 μ g) was loaded for the input and were analyzed using primary Axin, RanBPM, MAEA and ARMC8 α/β antibodies.

3.4 RanBPM negatively regulates β -catenin protein levels

3.4.1 β-catenin is elevated in RanBPM downregulated cells

Our laboratory previously performed micro-array analysis on HeLa and HCT116 cells stably expressing RanBPM shRNA and found that downregulation of RanBPM resulted in dysregulation of genes within the Wnt pathway (19). A previous study has also shown that downregulation of RanBPM results in an increase in the β -catenin homologue in Drosophila, suggesting that the dysregulation of Wnt genes was due to alteration of β catenin levels (13). To determine the effect of RanBPM expression on β -catenin protein levels, extracts from various cell lines with stably downregulated RanBPM were analyzed by Western blot. Using RanBPM shRNA, or control shRNA HeLa and HCT 116 cell lines, a modest, yet significant increase in β -catenin was found in RanBPM shRNA cells compared to the control cells (Figure 3.4A, B). Additionally, 3T3 mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) from RanBPM knockout mice displayed a similar significant increase of β -catenin compared to wild-type MEFs (Figure 3.4C). Lastly, RanBPM siRNA was used to transiently knock down RanBPM expression in CaCo-2 cells. Again, there was a significant increase in β -catenin protein levels in the RanBPM downregulated CaCo-2 cells compared to cells transfected with scrambled siRNA (Figure 3.4D). To confirm the specificity of the effect on β-catenin, RanBPM expression was restored in HeLa RanBPM shRNA cells. Increasing amounts of HA-tagged RanBPM, (from $1 - 3 \mu g$), was transfected into the RanBPM shRNA cells. Upon overexpression of RanBPM, there was a significant decrease, up to 50%, in β -catenin levels (Figure 3.5). Together these results suggest RanBPM functions as a negative regulator of β -catenin.

3.4.2 RanBPM may regulate β-catenin indirectly through the proteasome

Negative regulation of the canonical Wnt signalling pathway involves the polyubiquitination of β -catenin and its subsequent degradation by the proteasome (82). While this ubiquitination is most commonly performed by the E3 ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP, additional ligases have been shown to target β -catenin for ubiquitination (82-84).

To determine whether RanBPM is regulating β -catenin levels through the ubiquitinmediated proteasomal degradation pathway, similar to the regulation of gluconeogenic enzymes by the GID complex, RanBPM shRNA HeLa cells were used to assess β-catenin protein levels under conditions of proteasomal inhibition to determine if the loss of RanBPM affected β -catenin degradation. To accomplish this, RanBPM shRNA and nontargeting control shRNA HeLa cells were treated with MG132, a proteasomal inhibitor, or with the vehicle, DMSO. Under normal conditions, MG132 inhibition of the proteasome will prevent the degradation of ubiquitinated proteins leading to their accumulation in the cell. However, cells lacking E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, due to the loss of RanBPM, would lack this accumulation. Cells were treated with 10 µM of MG132 or DMSO and were harvested 16 h after treatment and analyzed through Western blot. HeLa cells expressing RanBPM shRNA showed a minimal, and non-significant increase in β -catenin protein levels under proteasomal inhibition, whereas the control shRNA cells showed over a 2-fold increase in β -catenin protein levels upon proteasomal inhibition, compared to vehicle treated cells (Figure 3.6). This suggests β -catenin may be regulated by the proteasome indirectly through RanBPM.

3.5 CTLH member RMND5A negatively regulates β-catenin protein levels

Thus far, evidence that the CTLH complex regulates β -catenin has been limited to RanBPM. To support that this regulation occurs through the CTLH complex activity, additional CTLH members must demonstrate a similar effect on β -catenin protein levels. Our laboratory utilized CRISPR-Cas9 to target and knockout *RMND5A* in HeLa wildtype cells. RMND5A is the mammalian homologue of GID2, the RING domain containing subunit conferring the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of the GID complex which is essential for *in vivo* ubiquitination of FBPase by the GID complex (57, 58). The high conservation of its mammalian homologue, RMND5A, also containing a RING domain, suggests that it functions as the E3 ubiquitin ligase of the CTLH complex. While RMND5A has demonstrated ubiquitination activity in *Xenopus laevis*, it has yet to be confirmed as the source of E3 ubiquitination activity of the CTLH complex (104).



Figure 3.4 β-Catenin protein levels are elevated in RanBPM downregulated cell lines. Western blot analysis of β-catenin protein levels in HeLa (A) and HCT 116 (B) cell lines stably expressing RanBPM shRNA or control shRNA. (C) Similar analysis was made using immortalized mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) that are RanBPM deficient. (D) CaCo-2 cells were transfected with 10 nM of RanBPM targeting siRNA or scrambled non-targeting siRNA and were harvested 24 h post-transfection and β-catenin protein levels were assessed through Western blot. All western blot analyses were performed using up to a total of 50 µg of protein and using primary β-catenin, RanBPM and Actin antibodies. Relative β-catenin protein levels were quantified by normalizing βcatenin to actin and expressing values relative to control (or wild-type) cells which were given a value of 1. Quantifications are shown with error bars indicating SD. A twosample t-test, assuming equal variance, was used to determine significance. * *p*<0.05; *****p*<0.001



Figure 3.5 Overexpression of RanBPM decreases β -catenin protein levels. (Left) Western blot analysis of β -catenin protein levels in HeLa cells stably expressing RanBPM shRNA following the re-expression of RanBPM. An increasing amount, to 3 μ g, of pCMV-HA-RanBPM was transfected into HeLa shRanBPM cells and were harvested 24 h post-transfection. Up to 50 μ g of protein was used for analysis and blots were analyzed using primary β -catenin, RanBPM and Actin antibodies. Relative β catenin protein levels were quantified by normalizing β -catenin to actin and expressing values relative to untreated cells which were given a value of 1. Quantifications are shown with error bars indicating SD. A two-sample t-test, assuming equal variance, was used to determine significance. *** p<0.001; ns not significant.

To determine the effect of the knockout of RMND5A on β -catenin expression, a cohort of monoclonal RMND5A knockout cell lines were generated and screened for β -catenin protein levels through Western blot. The initial screen revealed a ubiquitous increase in endogenous β -catenin levels in all RMND5A knockout clones compared to parental HeLa cells (Figure 3.7). To confirm this result, two clones, HeLa RMND5A ^{-/-} clones 16 and 18 (RMND5A^{-/-} C16 and RMND5A^{-/-} C18), were selected for further analysis and confirmed a consistent and significant increase in β -catenin protein levels compared to HeLa CRISPR control cells (Figure 8A, B). β -catenin protein regulation was rescued by ectopically expressing HA-RMND5A in RMND5A^{-/-} C16 cells for 24 h, decreasing β -catenin back to levels observed in HeLa CRISPR control cells (Figure 8C, D). These results demonstrate that endogenous β -catenin levels are downregulated by RMND5A expression suggesting RMND5A plays a key role in regulating β -catenin.

3.6 CTLH complex members affect β-catenin target gene expression

3.6.1 Downregulation of RanBPM leads to increased β-catenin nuclear localization

In the canonical Wnt signalling pathway, the cellular levels of β -catenin are primarily controlled by ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (82). Only when β -catenin can escape this regulation will it begin to accumulate (90). Once cytoplasmic levels have increased, β -catenin will translocate into the nucleus and upregulate its target genes (91-93). To determine whether the CTLH complex affects β -catenin target gene expression, we sought to test whether the increased β -catenin levels observed in RanBPM/RMND5A downregulated cells coincided with an increase in nuclear localization. To test this, immunofluorescence experiments were performed imaging endogenous β -catenin in RanBPM shRNA and control shRNA HeLa cells (Figure 3.9A). These analyses revealed a significant increase in β -catenin nuclear localization in the RanBPM downregulated cells compared to control cells (Figure 3.9B). This demonstrates that the loss of β -catenin regulation by RanBPM results in increased nuclear translocation.

3.6.2 RMND5A regulates β -catenin target gene expression

 β -catenin target genes are regulated by the TCF/LEF transcription factors, which under normal conditions interact with TLE1/Groucho proteins and recruit transcriptional repressors to Wnt responsive elements and inhibit gene expression (94, 96). When β catenin enters the nucleus, it will displace TLE1/Groucho from the TCF/LEF transcription factors, recruit transcriptional co-activators and enable WRE target gene expression (97, 98). Given that the loss of RanBPM and CTLH member RMND5A have been demonstrated to increase β -catenin protein levels and its nuclear localization, it is hypothesized that β -catenin target gene expression will be altered upon dysregulation of the CTLH complex.

To determine if the regulation of β -catenin by the CTLH complex translated into a change in target gene expression, a luciferase assay was performed using RMND5A^{-/-} C16 HeLa cell line along with a β -catenin activated reporter luciferase (pBARL), which contains 12 consecutive TCF/LEF response elements, the target motif of β -catenin upstream of a Promega MinP minimal promoter (94). The pBARL plasmid, a β -galactosidase internal control and either pCMV-Empty Vector or HA-RMND5A were co-transfected into RMND5A^{-/-} C16, and cells were harvested 48 h after transfection. Under these conditions, the luciferase activity provides a trackable change in TCF/LEF mediated gene expression in response to RMND5A. Upon reintroduction of RMND5A, there was a significant decrease, up to 70%, in relative fluorescence (Figure 3.10). This result suggests that the regulation of the CTLH complex on β -catenin negatively affects its downstream target gene expression.











Figure 3.8 Rescue of RMND5A restores β-catenin Regulation. (A)Whole cell extracts of two HeLa RMND5A CRISPR-Cas9 clones (Clones 16 and 18; C16 and C18) and a pool of HeLa cells that underwent the same CRISPR-Cas9 selection process absent guide RNA (HeLa EV Pool) were prepared and analyzed by Western blot using primary β-catenin, Actin and RMND5A antibodies. (B) Relative β-catenin protein levels were quantified by normalizing β-catenin to actin and expressing values relative to HeLa EV Pool, which were given a value of 1. (C) pCGN-HA-RMND5A was transfected into HeLa RMND5A-/- clone 16 cells to rescue the effect on β-catenin, Actin and RMND5A antibodies (D) Relative β-catenin protein levels. These cells were harvest and analyzed by Western blot using primary β-catenin, Actin and RMND5A antibodies (D) Relative β-catenin protein levels were quantified by normalizing β-catenin to actin and expressing values relative to HeLa EV Pool, which were given a value of 1. A two-sample t-test, assuming equal variance, was used to determine significance. * *p* < 0.05





3.7 The CTLH complex may promote β -catenin ubiquitination

Canonical ubiquitination of β -catenin involves the poly-ubiquitination of lysine 19 (K19) and lysine 49 (K49) by the E3 ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP, marking it for proteasomal degradation (105). Since the CTLH complex is an E3 ubiquitin ligase, it is hypothesized that the regulation of β -catenin by the CTLH complex is through ubiquitination. To determine whether the CTLH complex is targeting β -catenin for degradation, *in vitro* experiments were performed to assess β -catenin ubiquitination by the CTLH complex. To accomplish this, an HA-tagged ubiquitin expression plasmid was transfected into wild-type and RMND5A^{-/-} C16 HeLa cells. In addition, these cells were treated with the proteasomal inhibitor, MG132. Using a tagged ubiquitin molecule in combination with a proteasomal inhibitor allows for the visualization of ubiquitination of a protein. Through inhibition of the proteasome, ubiquitinated forms of β -catenin would begin to accumulate, whereas cells lacking CTLH complex activity due to the loss of RMND5A, would not show the ubiquitinated forms of β -catenin.

These cells were treated with 10 μ M of MG132 for 8 hours and harvested 24 hours posttransfection. Endogenous β -catenin was immunoprecipitated and analyzed through Western blot. In the wild-type HeLa cells expressing ubiquitin, after hybridization with a primary HA antibody a laddering, or smear characteristic of ubiquitination was revealed above 100 kDa, the approximate molecular weight of β -catenin (Figure 3.11). This pattern was also visible in the immunoprecipitate of the RMND5A knockout cells expressing ubiquitin, however the ubiquitin smear was greatly reduced. These were compared to parental cells not transfected with HA-ubiquitin in which there was no laddering present. The reduced ubiquitin laddering in the RMND5A knockout cell line suggests RMND5A and the CTLH complex functions to promote the ubiquitination of β catenin.



Figure 3.10 RMND5A regulates β -catenin target gene expression. HeLa RMND5A knockout clone 16 cells were transfected with a luciferase plasmid containing a β -catenin target motif (TCF/LEF promoter), a β -galactosidase internal control, and either pCMV-Empty Vector or pCGN-HA-RMND5A. Cells were harvested and analyzed 48 h post-transfection using a Promega Luciferase Assay System and Promega Beta-Glo on an Orion II Microplate Luminometer. Relative β -catenin gene expression was normalized to the β -galactosidase internal control and expressed relative to the RMND5A knockout cells transfected with pCMV-Empty Vector, which was given a value of 1. **** p < 0.0001.





Chapter 4

4 Discussion

4.1 Summary of findings

The goal of the study was to characterize the regulation of β -catenin protein levels and downstream target gene expression by the CTLH complex. It was hypothesized that the CTLH complex is regulating the Wnt signalling pathway through the targeting of β catenin for degradation. Specifically, we sought to confirm that the putative complex member, WDR26, was in fact part of the CTLH complex, to determine the effect of the CTLH complex on β -catenin protein levels, and to investigate whether this effect translated to a change in β -catenin target gene expression. In summary, we found that WDR26 interacts with RanBPM and core CTLH members, and that the CTLH complex forms a complex with Axin. We determined that RanBPM and RMND5A negatively regulate β -catenin protein levels, and that this was mediated through the proteasome. Additionally, it was shown that loss of RanBPM results in an increase in β -catenin nuclear localization. Lastly, it was found that RMND5A regulates β -catenin target gene expression. Whether this regulation is direct or indirect is still unknown, but preliminary data suggests the CTLH complex may promote the ubiquitination of β -catenin.

4.2 WDR26 interacts with the CTLH complex

While the CTLH complex has long been thought to function as an E3 ubiquitin ligase, similar to its yeast counterpart, the GID complex, it has only very recently been demonstrated to contain E3 ubiquitin ligase activity (62). In this discovery its first confirmed substrate was also identified as Hbp1, however previous studies have implicated it in the regulation of β -catenin (62-64). A recent study has demonstrated that WDR26, a putative member of the CTLH complex downregulates β -catenin when overexpressed (63). Although interactome studies have predicted WDR26 to exist as part of the CTLH complex, this needed to be confirmed (56). In Chapter 3.2.1, we investigated the tissue distribution of mutations in WDR26 in comparison to core CTLH members and found that WDR26 mutations have a similar tissue distribution as those of other CTLH complex members RanBPM, RMND5A and MAEA. Proteins within the

same pathway, when dysregulated in theory could promote tumour development at the same primary site, thus this highly correlated pattern of mutation distribution suggests WDR26 may be part of the CTLH complex. In Chapter 3.2.2, we investigated the interaction of WDR26 with the CTLH complex *ex vivo*. WDR26 was found to interact with multiple members of the CTLH complex, including Muskelin. While it was initially thought that Muskelin replaced WDR26 in the CTLH complex compared to the yeast GID complex (54), these results suggest WDR26 does interact with the CTLH complex.

4.3 The CTLH complex regulates the canonical Wnt signalling pathway through proteasomal degradation

While the main mechanisms of regulation of β -catenin is through the Axin degradation complex in the canonical Wnt pathway, additional means to regulate β -catenin have been uncovered. As previously stated, the canonical regulation of β -catenin involves the sequential phosphorylation by CK1 and GSK3 β , which serves as a signal to recruit β -TrCP promoting the ubiquitination and degradation of β -catenin by the proteasome (80-82). While initially it was thought that nuclear β -catenin was transported back into the cytosol to be targeted by the Axin degradation complex, there have been studies identifying nuclear components to additionally target β -catenin (107). Nuclear β -catenin was shown to be regulated by a separate phosphorylation mediated ubiquitination event performed by protein kinase C delta type (PKC\delta) and tripartite motif-containing protein 33 (TRIM33) respectively (108). In a similar mechanism as the Axin degradation complex, PKC δ directly phosphorylates nuclear β -catenin at serine 715 (S715), which is required for the subsequent ubiquitination by TRIM33 (108). Additionally, TRIM33 ubiquitination of β -catenin was shown to be independent of GSK3 β and β -TrCP activity (108). A separate study has identified nuclear β -catenin to be regulated through methylation (109). In Xenopus, it was demonstrated that lysine demethylase 2a and lysine demethylase 2b (Kdm2a/b) were also required for regulation of nuclear β -catenin (109). Lysine demethylase 2a/b were shown to interact with the fourth and fifth armadillo repeats of β -catenin and were responsible for demethylating specific lysine residues in this region that were targets of ubiquitination (109). Additional studies have revealed other cytoplasmic E3 ubiquitin ligases to target and regulate β -catenin, including Seven

in Absentia Homologue 1 (SIAH-1), the E3 ubiquitin ligase identified by Differential Display (EDD), and Gene for Apoptosis and Differentiation in Epithelia 1 (JADE-1) (83, 84, 110). SIAH-1 and JADE-1 have both been shown to directly ubiquitinate β -catenin promoting it for degradation, however EDD ubiquitination has been shown to increase the stability of β -catenin (83, 84, 110). Having multiple ubiquitination pathways regulating β -catenin stability implies its physiological importance, and further understanding these pathways is important to understand the relation between β -catenin and oncogenesis.

In Chapters 3.4 and 3.5, we investigated the role of CTLH members RanBPM and RMND5A and their relation to β -catenin. Individually, the loss of these two members showed a significant increase in β -catenin protein levels, and this affect was rescued when these proteins were re-expressed. As these two members serve as the scaffold to the CTLH complex and the RING domain subunit responsible for E3 ligase activity respectively, the loss of either would result in less complex formation, less active complex, allowing β -catenin to escape regulation and accumulate. Additionally, a previous study has demonstrated that the overexpression of WDR26 promoted degradation of β -catenin (63). Together, RanBPM, RMND5A and WDR26 individually regulating β -catenin levels strongly suggests this regulation is being performed by the CTLH complex.

In Chapter 3.4 we also investigated whether the loss of RanBPM would affect β -catenin degradation under conditions of proteasomal inhibition. Treating control cells expressing RanBPM with the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 showed a significant increase in β -catenin protein levels. This is in contrast to cells with stably downregulated RanBPM, which did not show a similar increase in β -catenin upon proteasomal inhibition. This likely means that downregulation of RanBPM resulted in reduced ubiquitination of β -catenin, thus decreasing the effect observed in under proteasomal impairment. This suggests RanBPM may function to promote the ubiquitination of β -catenin promoting it for degradation by the proteasome.

While dysregulation of CTLH complex members has been shown to alter β -catenin protein levels, this on its own does not confirm its role in the Wnt signalling pathway. To address this, in Chapter 3.6.1 we investigated the localization of β -catenin upon RanBPM loss of expression. It was found that decreased RanBPM expression resulted in an increased nuclear localization of β -catenin compared to control cells. Beta-catenin fulfills two separate functions, one in the Wnt signalling pathway, the other in adherens junction formation. (71, 72). These regulations involve two different pools of β -catenin localized in different cellular compartments. Its role in the Wnt signalling pathway involves the migration of β -catenin to the nucleus to regulate gene transcription, while adherens junctions are localized to the cell membrane (111). Thus, our results demonstrating an increased nuclear localization of β -catenin upon RanBPM downregulation suggests it affects its role in the Wnt signalling pathway.

Therefore, in Chapter 3.6.2, we investigated whether RMND5A, the subunit of the CTLH complex conferring E3 ubiquitination enzymatic activity, affects the target gene expression of β -catenin. Using a luciferase plasmid responsive to the β -catenin target TCF/LEF, the downstream activation of β -catenin target genes were assessed in response to re-expression of RMND5A in CRISPR-Cas9 RMND5A knockout HeLa cells. Upon the re-expression of RMND5A in these cells there was a drastic decrease in the β -catenin reporter activation, indicating RMND5A is involved in regulating β -catenin target gene expression.

In Chapter 3.7 we sought to determine whether the CTLH complex was affecting the ubiquitination of β -catenin through *in vitro* ubiquitination assays. Endogenous β -catenin was immunoprecipitated from extracts of wild-type and RMND5A CRISPR-Cas9 knockout HeLa cells transfected with a tagged-ubiquitin following proteasomal inhibition. Treating these cells with MG132 would lead to the accumulation of ubiquitinated products that would be visible as a laddering or smear through western blot. It was found that there was a drastic decrease in visible ubiquitinated β -catenin in the RMND5A knockout cells compared to wild-type HeLa cells. There was still ubiquitination of β -catenin in the RMND5A knockout HeLa cells ubiquitin ligases are known to target β -catenin for

ubiquitination (83, 84, 109). The appreciable decrease in ubiquitinated β -catenin upon the loss of RMND5A suggests that the CTLH complex is enhancing the ubiquitination of β -catenin, however whether this is a direct or indirect function of the CTLH complex has yet to be determined.

4.4 Regulation of β -catenin is independent of the Axin degradation complex

In Chapter 3.3 we demonstrated that endogenous Axin co-immunoprecipitates with RanBPM and core CTLH complex members. Although this suggests that the complex interacts with Axin, it is suspected that the regulation of β -catenin by the CTLH complex is independent of the Axin degradation complex. A previous study has shown that the regulation of β -catenin by WDR26 was independent of GSK3 β activity (63). WDR26 was overexpressed in the presence and absence of a GSK3β inhibitor, and it was found that WDR26 decreased β -catenin under both conditions. If WDR26 activity was dependent on GSK3^β phosphorylation, then abolishing GSK3^β activity would eliminate the ability for WDR26 to regulate β -catenin. Additionally, in chapter 3.4.1 while investigating the effect of RanBPM on β-catenin, we used two cell lines (HCT 116 and CaCo-2) that have previously been characterized to contain mutations in β -catenin or components of the Axin degradation complex (112, 113). HCT 116 contains a heterozygous deletion of codon 45 in exon 3, which results in a deletion of serine 45 (112). Serine 45 is one of the phosphorylation sites of CK1 of the Axin complex and is required for GSK3β phosphorylation. CaCo-2 cells are characterized as containing two mutations. First, there is a guanine to cytosine transversion resulting in a change from glycine to alanine in codon 245, within the Arm repeat region of exon 5 (112). Additionally, CaCo-2 cells have a truncating mutation in APC in exon 16 in addition to loss of heterozygosity (113). The mutation in β -catenin occurs at the site of APC binding, and while it has not been fully characterized, the structural change is theorized to decrease APC binding to β -catenin (112). More significantly, the loss of APC due to truncation would result in loss of control of normal β -catenin signalling (114). The mutations characterized in both HCT 116 and CaCo-2 cells cause a functional loss of βcatenin regulation mediated by the Axin degradation complex. If the effect of RanBPM

on β -catenin was mediated through the Axin degradation complex, then this would be abolished in these cell lines. The change in β -catenin in these cell lines in response to RanBPM suggests it is regulating β -catenin in a novel mechanism, different than the canonical pathway.

Disruption of the canonical Wnt signalling pathway is often associated with colorectal carcinoma resulting from loss of function mutations in APC (117). This is consistent with the results presented in Chapter 3.2.1, where the tissue distribution of mutations displayed colorectal tissue to contain a high number of mutations in WDR26, RanBPM, MAEA andRMND5A. Interestingly, these CTLH complex members were also found mutated in liver tumours at a higher rate. While Wnt signalling in carcinogenesis is most commonly associated with colorectal cancer, previous studies have showed activating mutations in β -catenin to contribute to the pathogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma among many cancer types (118, 119). While many components of the Wnt signalling pathway may contribute to various forms of cancer, mutations in CTLH complex members leading to loss of CTLH regulation may contribute to Wnt signalling hyperactivation and the progression of these cancers.

4.5 Limitation of the study and future work

Previous studies along with the results presented here suggest that both WDR26 and Muskelin may exist in the CTLH complex, despite initial reports suggesting Muskelin replaces WDR26. While the exact topology of the CTLH complex is not fully understood, previous work in our laboratory has identified CTLH complex members as nucleocytoplasmic proteins (120). Interestingly however, RanBPM, RMND5A and MAEA were primarily nuclear, while Muskelin and WDR26 were primarily cytoplasmic (120). It is possible that there are multiple forms of the CTLH complex, containing either WDR26, Muskelin, or both depending on the compartmentalization of the complex as well as temporal expression of these members. To fully understand the function of the CTLH complex, further studies should focus on determining where these proteins colocalize within the cell, and whether WDR26 and Muskelin localize to the CTLH complex simultaneously or whether these interactions are mutually exclusive.

When performing the β -catenin activated luciferase assay, the reporter activation was normalized to a β -galactosidase (β -Gal) reporter that was co-transfected to control for transfection efficiency. Initially this experiment was performed using RanBPM shRNA HeLa cells co-transfected with the β -catenin reporter as well as a *Renilla* reporter (pRL). Repeatedly, it was found that the re-expression of RanBPM was altering the pRL activation making it unreliable to use to normalize the samples (Supplemental Figure 1). To avoid this, the experiment was changed to use RMND5A CRISPR-Cas9 knockout HeLa cells instead, however the same effect on pRL was observed upon re-expression of RMND5A. This suggests the CTLH complex may alter pRL expression, and an alternative control was needed. While β -Gal is a less commonly used reporter for luciferase assays compared to a dual-luciferase system, it did provide consistent results that were not influenced by RMND5A. However, using β -Gal as a control, we were unable to simultaneously measure β -catenin activation and the negative control in the same sample through a dual luciferase system. The measurements had to be taken in parallel with separate sample preparations measured at the same time. Although this was not the ideal system, the results were consistent between replicates.

The data presented in Chapters 3.4 and 3.5 strongly implicates RanBPM and RMND5A in the regulation of β -catenin protein levels, however the mechanism behind this regulation is still unknown. In Chapter 3.7 we determined RMND5A affects β -catenin ubiquitination by visualizing ectopically expressed HA-ubiquitination of endogenous β -catenin that was immunoprecipitated under proteasomal inhibition. Our results displayed a decreased presence of HA-ubiquitin upon the knockout of RMND5A. While these results suggest RMND5A functions to enhance the ubiquitination of β -catenin, whether this effect is direct or indirect is uncertain. To determine whether the CTLH complex is directly ubiquitinating β -catenin, an *in vitro* ubiquitination assay could be performed where purified members of the CTLH complex are immunoprecipitated and incubated with purified β -catenin along with all required components of the ubiquitination reaction. If ubiquitinating β -catenin.

Another possibility is that the CTLH complex is regulating β -catenin through an intermediate protein or complex that regulates elements upstream of β -catenin. Recently, a member of our laboratory performed a large-scale proteomic analysis to assess global changes in ubiquitination upon the loss of CTLH members. Initial results have identified a few potential targets for ubiquitination that have been shown to interact with components of the Wnt pathway (Maitland, unpublished). The first target identified is tankyrase-2 (Tnks2) which functions to poly-ADP-ribosylate (PARylate) Axin, promoting it for degradation (115). An upregulation of Tnks2 due to loss of RanBPM theoretically would result in a decrease in Axin allowing for β -catenin to accumulate. A second potential target identified for CTLH ubiquitination was the receptor-interaction protein kinase 4 (RIPK4). RIPK4 has been shown to promote Wnt signalling by phosphorylating dishevelled and promoting Wnt receptor activation (116). Upregulation of RIPK4 due to loss of RanBPM would stabilize β -catenin mediated through Wnt receptor activation, however whether this activation occurs independent of the Axin degradation is unknown.

A final option is that the CTLH complex is targeting an interacting partner with Axin. Although our data suggests that this regulation is independent of the Axin degradation complex, it was shown that the regulation of β -catenin by WDR26 required interaction with Axin1 (63). In this case, the CTLH complex may be regulating an interacting partner with Axin, different than those in the canonical degradation complex, that also influence β -catenin stability. See figure 4.1 below for an overview of possible targets of CTLH ubiquitination that mediate the regulation of β -catenin. Further studies should be performed to identify and validate additional targets of CTLH ubiquitination that may mediate the regulation of β -catenin.



Figure 4.1 Potential mechanisms of CTLH mediated \beta-catenin regulation. A) The CTLH complex may indirectly regulate β -catenin protein levels by targeting Tnks2 (Tankyrase-2) or RIPK4 (receptor interaction protein kinase 4) which are known to regulate components of the Axin degradation complex. Alternatively, the CTLH complex may regulate a currently unidentified target that may directly regulate β -catenin. B) The CTLH complex may target a component within the Wnt signalling pathway that is upstream to β -catenin, including an interacting partner with Axin apart from CK1 (casein kinase 1), APC (adenomatous polyposis coli) or GSK3 β (glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta). C) The CTLH complex may directly target β -catenin for degradation.

4.6 Conclusion

Overall, this study was performed to investigate the regulation of β -catenin and the Wnt signalling pathway by the CTLH complex. This study has further implicated the CTLH complex to regulate β -catenin, as well as Wnt target gene expression. While further studies need to be performed to elucidate the mechanism behind the regulation of β -catenin, the results demonstrated here suggest a novel tumour suppressive role of the CTLH complex as a negative regulator of the Wnt signalling pathway.

5 References

- 1. Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. *Canadian Cancer Statistics 2017. Toronto, ON*, (2017).
- Loeb, K., Loeb, L. Significance of multiple mutations in cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 1, 379 – 385 (2000).
- 3. Chen, Q., Zhu, X., Li, Y., Meng, Z. Epigenetic regulation and cancer. *Oncology Reports* **31**, 523 532 (2013).
- 4. Floor, S., Dumont, J., Maenhaut, C., Raspe, E. Hallmarks of cancer: of all cancer cells, all the time? *Trends in Molecular Medicine* **18**, 509 515 (2012).
- 5. Nakamura, M., Masuda, H., Horii, J., Kuma, K., Yokoyama, N., Ohba, T., Nishitani, H., Miyata, T., Masao, t., Nishimoto, T. When overexpressed, a novel centrosomal protein, RanBPM, causes ectopic microtubule nucleation similar to γ -tubulin. *Journal of Cell Biology* **143**, 1041 – 1052 (1998).
- 6. Sazer, S., Dasso, M. The Ran decathlon: multiple roles of Ran. *Journal of Cell Science* **113**, 1111 1118 (2000).
- Nishitani, H., Hirose, E., Uchimura, Y., Nakamura, M., Umeda, M., Nishii, K., Mori, N., Nishimoto, T. Full-sized RanBPM cDNA encodes a protein possessing a long stretch of proline and glutamine within the N-terminal region, comprising a large protein complex. *Gene* 272, 25 – 33 (2001).
- 8. Salemi, L., Loureiro, S., Schild-Poulter, C. Characterization of RanBPM molecular determinants that control is subcellular localization. *PLOS One* **10**, e0117655 (2015).
- 9. Gong, X., Ye, W., Zhou, H., Ren, X., Li, Z., Zhou, W., Wu, J., Gong, Y., Ouyang, Q., Zhao, X., Zhang, X. RanBPM is an acetylcholinesterase-interacting protein that translocates into the nucleus during apoptosis. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica* **41**, 883 8891 (2009).
- 10. Atabakhsh, E., Bryce, D., Lefebvre, K., Schild-Poulter, C. RanBPM has proapoptotic activities that regulate cell death pathways in response to DNA damage. *Molecular Cancer Research* **7**, 1962 1972 (2009).
- 11. Liu, T., Roh, S., Woo, J., Ryu H., Kang, D. Cooperative role of RanBP9and P73 in mitochondria-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death and Disease* **4**, e476 (2013).
- 12. Kramer, S., Ozaki, T., Miyazaki, K., Kato, C., Hanamoto, T. Nakagawara, A. Protein stability and function of p73 are modulated by a physical interaction with RanBPM in mammalian cultured cells. *Oncogene* **24**, 938 (2005).
- 13. Dansereau, D., Lasko, P. RanBPM regulates cell shape, arrangement, and capacity of the female germline stem cell niche in Drosophila melanogaster. *Journal of Cell Biology*.**182**, 963 977 (2008).
- Wu, Y., Sun, X., Kaczmarek, E., Dwyer, K., Bianchi, E., Usheva, A., Robson, S. RanBPM associates with CD39 and modulates ecto-nucleotidase activity. *Biochemical Journal* 15, 23 – 30 (2006).

- Suresh, B., Ramakrishna, S., Kim, Y.-S., Kim, S.-M., Kim, M.-S. Baek, K.-H. Stability and function of mammalian lethal giant larvae-1 oncoprotein are regulated by the scaffolding protein RanBPM. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285, 35340-35349 (2010).
- 16. Wang, D., Li, Z., Messing, E. M. Wu, G. Activation of Ras/Erk pathway by a novel MET-interacting protein RanBPM. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 36216-36222 (2002).
- 17. Zou, Y., Lim, S., Lee, K., Deng, X. Friedman, E. Serine/threonine kinase Mirk/Dyrk1B is an inhibitor of epithelial cell migration and is negatively regulated by the Met adaptor Ran-binding protein M. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**, 49573-49581 (2003).
- Denti, S., Sirri, A., Cheli, A., Rogge, L., Innamorati, G., Putignano, S., Fabbri, M., Pardi, R., Bianchi, E. RanBPM is a phosphoprotein that associates with the plasma membrane and interacts with the integrin LFA-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 13027 – 13034 (2004).
- 19. Atabakhsh, E., Wang, J., Wang, X., Carter, D., Schild-Poulter, C. RanBPM expression regulates transcriptional pathways involved in development and tumorigenesis. *American Journal of Cancer Research* **2**, 549 565 (2012).
- 20. Atabakhsh, E., Schild-Poulter, C. RanBPM is an inhibitor of ERK signaling. *PLOS One* **7**, e47803 (2012).
- 21. Poirier, M., Laflamme, L., Langlois, M. Identification and characterization of RanBPM, a novel coactivator of thyroid hormone receptors. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* **36**, 313 325 (2006).
- 22. Salemi, L., Maitland, M., McTavish, C., Schild-Poulter, C. Cell signalling pathway regulation by RanBPM: molecular insights and disease implication. *Open Biology* **7**, e170081 (2017).
- Shao, S., Sun, P.-H., Satherley, L. K., Gao, X., Ji, K., Feng, Y., Jia, Y., Ji, J., Jiang, W. G. Ye, L. Reduced RanBPM Expression Is Associated with Distant Metastasis in Gastric Cancer and Chemoresistance. *Anticancer Research* 36, 1295-1303 (2016).
- 24. Suresh, B., Ramakrishna, S., Baek, K. Diverse roles of the scaffolding protein RanBPM. *Drug Discovery Today* **17**, 379 387 (2012).
- 25. Francis, O., Han, F., Adams, J. Molecular phylogeny of a RING E3 ubiquitin ligase, conserved in Eukaryotic cells and dominated by homologous components, the Muskelin/RanBPM/CTLH Complex. *PLOS One* **8**, e464689 (2013).
- 26. Gusella, J., MacDonald, M. Trinucleotide instability: a repeating theme in human inherited disorders. *Annual Review of Medicine* **47**, 201 209 (1996).
- 27. Kopito, R. Aggresomes, inclusion bodies and protein aggregation. *Trends in Cell Biology* **12**, 524 530 (2000).

- Salemi, L., Almawi, A., Lefebvre, K., Schild-Poulter, C. Aggresome formation is regulated by RanBPM through an interaction with HDAC6. *Open Biology* 3, 418 – 430 (2014).
- 29. Kay, B. K., Williamson, M. P. Sudol, M. The importance of being proline: the interaction of proline-rich motifs in signaling proteins with their cognate domains. *The FASEB Journal* **14**, 231-241 (2000).
- 30. Murrin, C., Talbot, J. RanBPM, a scaffolding protein in the immune and nervous systems. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology* **2**, 290 295 (2007).
- Perfetto, L., Gherardini, P., Davey, N., Diella, F., Helmer-Citterich, M., Cesareni, G. Exploring the diversity of the SPRY/B30.2-mediated interactions. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 38, 38 46 (2013).
- 32. Menon, R., Gibson, T., Pastore, A. The C-terminus of fragile X mental retardation protein interacts with the multi-domain Ran- binding protein in the microtubule-organising centre. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **343**, 43 53 (2004).
- 33. Gerlitz, G., Darhin, E., Giorgio, G., Franco, B., Reiner, O. Novel functional features of the Lis-H domain: role in protein dimerization, half-life and cellular localization. *Cell Cycle* **4**, 1632 1640 (2005).
- 34. Emes, R., Ponting, C. A new sequence motif linking lissencephaly, Treacher Collins and oral-facial-digital type 1 syndromes, microtubule dynamics, and cell migration. *Human Molecular Genetics* **10**, 2813 2820 (2001).
- 35. Rao, M., Cheng, H., Quayle, A., Nishitani, H., Nelson, C., Rennie, P. RanBPM, a nuclear protein that interacts with and regulates transcriptional activity of androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 48020 28027 (2002).
- 36. Brunkhorst, A., Karlen, M., Shi, J., Mikolajczyk, M., Nelson, M., Metsis, M., Hermanson, O. A specific role for the TFIID subunit TAF4 and RanBPM in neural progenitor differentiation. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* **29**, 250 – 258 (2005).
- 37. Yuan, Y., Fu, C., Chen, H., Wang, X., Deng, W., Huang, B. The Ran binding protein RanBPM interacts with TrkA receptor. *Neuroscience Letters* **407**, 26 31 (2006).
- 38. Wang, L., Fu, C., Cui, Y., Xie, Y., Yuan, Y., Wang, X., Chen, H., Huang, B. The Ran-binding protein RanBPM can depress the NF-kB pathway by interacting with TRAF6. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* **359**, 83 94 (2012).
- 39. Hardwick, J., Soane, L. Multiple functions of BCL-2 family proteins. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* **5**, a008722 (2013).
- Woo, J., Jung, A., Lakshmana, M., Bedrossian, A., Lim, Y., Bu, J., Park, S., Koo, E., Mook-Jung, I, Kang, D. Pivotal role of the RanBP9-cofilin pathway in Aβ-induced apoptosis and neurodegeneration. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 19, 1413 1423 (2012).
- 41. Dong, B., Chen, H., Huang B-R. RanBPM is a novel binding protein for p75NTR. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **309**, 552 – 557 (2003).
- 42. Mikolajcyk, M., Shi, J., Vaillancourt, R., Sachs, N., Nelson, M. The cyclindependent kinase 11(p46) isoform interacts with RanBPM. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **310**, 14 – 18 (2003).
- 43. Ata, R., Antonescu, C. Integrins and cell metabolism: an intimate relationship impacting cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **18**, 189 220 (2017).
- Woo, J., Roh, S., Lakshmana, M., Kang, D. Pivotal role of RanBP9 in integrindependent focal adhesion signalling and assembly. *The FASEB Journal* 26, 1672 – 1681 (2012).
- 45. Togashi, H., Schmidt, E., Strittmatter, S. RanBPM contributes to semaphorin3A signaling through Plexin-A receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience* **26**, 4961 4969 (2006).
- Valiyaveettil, M., Bentley, A., Gursahaney, P., Hussien, R., Chakravarti, R., Kureishy, N., Prag, S., Adams, J. Novel role of the muskelin-RanBP9 complex as a nucleocytoplasmic mediator of cell morphology regulation. *Journal of Cell Biology* 182, 727 – 739 (2008).
- 47. Wei, J., Kim, J., Kim, A., Jang, S., Kim, J. RanBPM protein acts as a negative regulator of BLT2 receptor to attenuate BLT2-mediated cell motility. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **288**, 26753 26763 (2013).
- 48. Zhan, T., Rindtorff, N., Boutros, M. Wnt signaling in cancer. *Oncogene* **36**, 1461 1473 (2016).
- 49. Balmanno, K., Cook, S. Tumour cell survival signalling by the ERK1/2 pathway. *Cell Death and Differentiation* **16**, 368 (2009).
- 50. Kock, U., Radtke, F. Notch and cancer: a double-edged sword. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **64**, 2746 2762 (2007).
- 51. Martini, M., De Santis, M., Braccini, L., Gulluni, F., Hirsch, E. PI3K/AKT signaling pathway and cancer: an updated review. *Annual Review of Medicine* **46**, 372 383 (2014).
- 52. Aldana-Masangkay GI, Sakamoto KM. The Role of HDAC6 in Cancer. *Journal* of Biomedicine and Biotechnology. **2011**, e875824 (2011).
- 53. Kobayashi, N., Yang, J., Ueda, A., Suzuki, T., Tomaru, K., Takeno, M., Okuda, K., Ishigatsubo, Y. RanBPM, Muskelin, p48EMLP, p44CTLH and the armadillorepeat proteins ARMC8a and ARMC8b are components of the CTLH complex. *Gene* **396**, 236 – 247 (2007).
- 54. Santt, O., Pfirrmann, T., Braun, B., Juretschke, J., Kimmig, P., Scheel, H., Hofmann, K., Thumm, M., Wolf, D. The yeast GID complex, a novel ubiquitin ligase (E3) involved in the regulation of carbohydrate metabolism. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **19**, 3323 – 3333 (2008).

- 55. Tomastikova, E., Cenklova, V., Kohoutova, L., Petrovska, B., Vachova, L., Halada, P., Kocarova, G., Binarova, P. Interactions of an *Arabidopsis* RanBPM homologue with LisH-CTLH domain proteins revealed high conservation of CTLH complexes in Eukaryotes. *BMC Plant Biology* **12**, 83 (2012).
- 56. Anvarian, Z., Nojima, H., Kappel, E., Madl, T., Spit, M., Biertler, M., Jordens, I., Low, T., Scherpenzeel, R., Kuper, R., Heck, A., Boelens, R., Vincent, JP., Rudiger, S., Mourice, M. Axin cancer mutants form nanoaggregates to rewire the Wnt signaling network. *Nature Structure and Molecular Biology* 23, 324 332 (2016).
- 57. Menssen, R., Schweiggert, J., Schreiner, J., Kusevic, D., Reuther, J., Braun, B., Wolf, D. Exploring the topology of the GID complex, the E3 ubiquitin ligase involved in catabolite-induced degradation of gluconeogenic enzymes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, 25602 – 25614 (2012).
- 58. Regelmann, J., Schule, T., Josupeit, F., Horak, J., Rose, M., Entian, K., Thumm, M., Wolf, D. Catabolite degradation of Fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: a genome-wise screen identifies eight novel GID genes and indicates existence of two degradation pathways. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 14, 1652 1663 (2003).
- 59. Chen, SJ., Wi, X., Wadas, B., Oh, JH., Varshavsky, A. An N-end rule pathway that recognizes proline and destroys gluconeogenic enzymes. *Science* **355**, 6323 (2017).
- 60. Braun, B., Pfirrmann, T., Menssen, R., Hofmann, K., Scheel, H., Wolf, D. Gid9, a second RING finger protein contributes to the ubiquitin ligase activity of the Gid complex required for catabolite degradation. *FEBS Letters* **585**, 3856 3861 (2011).
- 61. Metzger, M., Pruneda, J., Klevit, R., Weissman, A. RING-type E3 ligases: master manipulators of E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes and ubiquitination. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1843**, 47 60 (2014).
- Lampert, F., Stafa, D., Goga, A., Soste, M., Gilberto, S., Olieric, N., Picotti, P., Stoffel, M., Peter, M. The multi-subunit GID/CTLH E3 ubiquitin ligase promotes cell proliferation and targets the transcription factor Hbp1 for degradation. *eLife* 18, e35528 (2018).
- 63. Goto, T., Matsuzawa, J., Iemura, S., Natsume, T., Shibuya, H. WDR26 is a new partner of Axin1 in the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. *FEBS Letters* **590**, 1291 1303 (2016).
- Suzuki, T., Ueda, A., Kobayashi, N., Yang, J., Tomaru, K., Yamamoto, M., Takeno, M., Ishigatsubo, Y. Proteasome-dependent degradation of α-catenin is regulated by interaction with ARMc8α. *Biochemical Journal* 411, 581 – 591 (2008).
- 65. Sun, L., Chen, Z. The novel functions of ubiquitination in signaling. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **16**, 119 126 (2004).

- 66. Pickart, C. Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **70**, 503 533 (2001).
- 67. Mukhopadhyay, D., Riezman, H. Proteasome-independent functions of ubiquitin in endocytosis and signaling. *Science* **315**, 201 205 (2007).
- 68. Schnell, J., Hicke, L. Non-traditional function of ubiquitin and ubiquitin-binding proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**, 35857 35860 (2003).
- 69. Glickman, M., Ciechanover, A. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destructions for the sake of construction. *Physiological Reviews* **82**, 373 428 (2002).
- 70. Hershko, A., Heller, H., Elias, S., Ciechanover, A. Components of ubiquitinprotein ligase system. Resolution, affinity purification, and role in protein breakdown. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **13**, 8206 – 8214 (1983).
- Brembeck, F., Rosario, M., Birchmeier, W. Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of beta-catenin. *Current Opinion of Genetic Development* 16, 51 59 (2006).
- 72. MacDonald, B., Tamai, K., He, X. Wnt/B-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. *Developmental Cell* **17**, 9 26 (2009).
- 73. Ozawa, M., Baribault, H., Kemler, R. The cytoplasmic domain of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin associates with three independent proteins structurally related in different species. *EMBO Journal* **8**, 1711 1717 (1989).
- 74. Pecina-Slaus, N. Tumor suppressor gene E-cadherin and its role in normal and malignant cells. *Cancer Cell International* **3**, 17 (2003).
- 75. Ozawa M., Ringwald, M., Kemler, R. Uvomorulin-catenin complex formation is regulated by a specific domain int eh cytoplasmic region of the cell adhesion molecule. *PNAS* **87**, 4246 4250 (1990).
- 76. Nelson, J. Regulation of cell-cell adhesion by the cadherin-catenin complex. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **36**, 149 – 155 (2008).
- 77. Tian, X., Liu, Z., Niu, B., Zhang, J., Kui Tan., T, Lee, S., Zhao, Y., Harris, D., Zheng, G. E-cadherin/B-catenin complex and the epithelial barrier. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology* **2011**, e567305 (2011).
- 78. Gumbiner, B. Signal transduction of B-catenin. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 7, 634 – 640 (1995).
- 79. Clevers, H. Wnt signaling in development and disease. *Cell.* **127**, 469 -480 (2006).
- 80. Kimelman, D., Xu, W. Beta-catenin destruction complex: insights and questions from a structural perspective. *Oncogene* **25**, 7482 7491 (2006).
- 81. Huang, H., He, X. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: new (and old) players and new insights. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **2**, 119 125 (2008).

- Su, Y., Fu, C., Ishikawa, S., Stella, A., Kojima, M., Shitoh, K., Schreiber, E., Day, B., Liu, B. APC is essential for targeting phosphorylated beta-catenin to the SCFbeta-TrCP ubiquitin ligase. *Molecular Cell* 32, 652 – 661 (2008).
- Dimitrova, Y., Li, J., Lee, Y., Rios-Esteves, J., Friedman, D., Choi, H., Weis, W., Wang, C., Chazin, W. Direct ubiquitination of B-catenin by the Siah-1 and regulation by the exchange factor TBL1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285, 13507 – 13516 (2010).
- 84. Hay-Koren, A., Caspi, M., Zilberberg, A., Rosin-Arbesfeld, R. The EDD E3 ubiquitin ligase ubiquitinates and upregulates B-catenin. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **22**, 399 411 (2010).
- 85. Logan, C., Nusse, R. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology **20**, 781 – 810 (2004).
- 86. He, X., Semenov, M., Tamai, K., Zeng, X. LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: arrows point the way. *Development* 131, 1663 – 1677 (2004).
- Wong, H., Bourdelas, A., Krauss, A., Lee, H., Shao, Y., Wu, D., Mlodzik, M., Shi, D., Zheng, J. Direct binding of the PDZ domain of Dishevelled to a conserved internal sequence in the C-terminal region of Frizzled. *Molecular Cell* 12, 1251 – 1260 (2003).
- 88. Zeng, X., Huang, H., Tamai, K., Zhang, X., Harada, Y., Yokota, C., Almeida, K., Wang, J., Doble, B., Woodgett, J., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Hseih, J., He, X. Initiation of Wnt signaling: control of Wnt coreceptor Lrp6 phosphorylation/activation via frizzled, dishevelled and Axin functions. *Development* **135**, 367 – 375 (2008).
- MacDonald, B., Yokota, C., Tamai, K., Zeng, X., Xe, H. Wnt signal amplification via activity, cooperativity, and regulation of multiple intracellular PPPSP motifs in the Wnt co-receptor LRP6. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283, 16115 16123 (2008).
- Mao, J., Wang, J., Liu, B., Pan, W., Farr, G., Flynn, C., Yuan, H., Takada, S., Kimelmann, D., Li, L., Wu, D. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-5 binds to Axin and regulates the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. *Molecular Cell* 7, 801 – 809 (2001).
- 91. Henderson, B., Fagotto, F. The ins and outs of APC and beta-catenin nuclear transport. *EMBO Reports* **3**, 834 839 (2002).
- 92. Krieghoff E., Behrens, J., Mayr, B. Nucleo-cytoplasmic distribution of betacatenin is regulated by retention. *Journal of Cell Science* **119**, 1453 – 1463 (2006).
- Wu, X., Tu, X., Joeng, K., Hilton, M., Williams, D., Long, F. Rac1 activation controls nuclear localization of beta-catenin during canonical Wnt signaling. *Cell* 133, 340 353 (2008).
- 94. Hoppler, S., Kavanagh, C. Wnt signalling: variety at the core. *Journal of Cell Science* **120**, 385 393 (2007).

- 95. Acre, K., Yokoyama, N., Waterman, M. Diversity of LEF/TCF action in development and disease. *Oncogene* **25**, 7492 7504 (2006).
- 96. Jennings, B., Ish-Horowicz, D. The Groucho/TLE/Grg family of transcriptional co-repressors. *Genome Biology* **9**, 205 (2013).
- 97. Daniels, D., Weis, W. Beta-catenin directly displaces Groucho/TLE repressors from TCF/LEF in Wnt-mediated transcription activation. *Nature Structure and Molecular Biology* **12**, 364 371 (2005).
- 98. Mosimann, C., Hausmann, G., Basler, K. Beta-catenin hits chromatin: regulation of Wnt target gene activation. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **10**, 276 286 (2009).
- 99. Sierra, J., Yoshida, T., Joazeiro, C., Jones, K. The APC tumor suppressor counteracts beta-catenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Development* **20**, 586 600 (2006).
- 100. Shtutman, M., Zhurinsky, J., Simcha, I., Albanese, C., D'Amico, M., Pestell, R., Ben-Ze'ev A. The cyclin D1 gene is a target of the B-catenin/LEF-1 pathway. *PNAS* 96, 5522 – 5527 (1999).
- 101. Miller, D., Thomas, S., Islam, A., Muench, D., Sedoris, K. c-Myc and cancer metabolism. *Clinical Cancer Research* **18**, 5546 5553 (2012).
- Xu, J. Preparation, culture, and immortalization of mouse embryonic fibroblasts. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology* 70, 28.1.1-28.1.8. doi:10.1002/0471142727.mb2801s70
- 103. Kikuchi, A. Tumor formation by genetic mutations in the components of the Wnt signaling pathway. *Cancer Science* **94**, 225 229 (2003).
- 104. Pfirrmann, T., Villavicencio-Lorini, P., Subudhi, A., Menssen, R., Wolf, D., Hollemann, T. Rmnd5 from Xenopus laevis is an E3 ubiquitin-ligase and functions in early embryonic forebrain development. *PLOS one* **10**, e0120342 (2015).
- 105. Tauriello, D., Maurice, M. The various roles of ubiquitin in Wnt pathway regulation. *Cell Cycle* **9**, 3700 3709 (2010).
- 106. Gerlitz, G., Darhin, E., Giorgio, G., Franco, B., Reiner, O. Novel functional features of the Lis-H domain: Role in protein dimerization, half-life and cellular localization. *Cell Cycle* **4**, 1632 1640 (2005).
- 107. Fagotto, F. Nuclear B-catenin under control. *Developmental Cell* **33**, 625 626 (2015).
- 108. Xue, J., Chen, Y., Wu, Y., Wang, Z., Zhou, A, Zhang S., Lin, K., Aldape, K., Majumder, S., Lu, Z., Huang, S. Tumour suppressor TRIM33 targets nuclear Bcatenin degradation. *Nature Communications* 6, 6156 (2015)
- 109. Lu, L., Gao, Y., Zhang, Z., Cao, Q., Zhang, X., Zou, J., Cao, Y. Ksm2a/b lysine demethylases regulate canonical Wnt signaling by modulating the stability of nuclear B-catenin. *Developmental Cell* **33**, 660 674 (2015).

- 110. Chitalia, V., Foy, R., Bachschmid, M., Zeng, L., Panchenko, M., Zhou, M., Bharti, A., Seldin, D., Lecker, S., Domingues, I., Cohnen, H. Jade-1 inhibits Wnt signaling by ubiquitinating B-catenin and mediates Wnt pathway inhibition by pVHL. *Nature Cell Biology* **10**, 1208 – 1216 (2008).
- 111. McEwen, A., Escobar, D., Gottardi, C. Signaling from the adherens junction. *Subcellular Biochemistry* **60**, 171 196 (2012).
- 112. Ilyas, M., Tomlinson, I., Rowan, A., Pignatelli, M., Bodmer, W. B-catenin mutations in cell lines established from human colorectal cancers. *PNAS* 94, 10330 – 10334 (1997).
- 113. Venesio T., Balsamo, A., Scordamaglia, A., Bertolaso, M., Arrigoni, A., Sprujevnik, T., Rossini, F., Risio, M. Germline APC mutation on the beta-catenin binding site is associated with a decreased apoptotic level in colorectal adenomas. *Modern Pathology* 16, 57 – 65 (2003).
- Morin, P., Sparks, A., Korinek, V., Barker, N., Clevers, H., Vogelstein, B., Kinzler, K. Activation of beta-catenin-Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in beta-catenin or APC. *Science* 275, 1787 – 1790 (1997).
- Mariotti, L., Pollock, K., Guettler, S. Regulation of Wnt/B-catenin by tankyrasedependent poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation and scaffolding. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 174, 4611 – 4636 (2017).
- 116. Huang, X., McGann J., Liu, B., Hannoush, R., Lill, J., Pham, V., Newton, K., Kakunda, M., Liu, J., Yu, C., Hymowitz, S., Hongo, J., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Polakis, P., Harland, R., Dixit, V. RIPK4 phosphorylates dishevelled proteins to regulate canonical Wnt signaling. *Science* **339**, 1441 – 1445 (2013).
- 117. White, B., Chien, A., Dawson, D. Dysregulation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in gastrointestinal cancers. *Gastroenterology* **142**, 219 232 (2012).
- 118. Coste, a., Romagnolo, B., Billuart, P., Renard, CA., Buendia, MA., Soubrane, O., Fabre, M., Chelly, J., Kahn, A., Perret, C. Somatic mutations of the β-catenin gene are frequent in mouse and human hepatocellular carcinomas. *PNAS* 95, 8847 – 8851 (1998).
- 119. Sherwood, V., Leigh, I. Wnt signaling in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma: A future treatment strategy. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **136**, 1760 1767 (2016).
- 120. Maitland, M., Onea, G., Chiasson C., Wang, X., Ma, J., Barber, K., Moor, S., Lajoie, G., Shaw, G., Schild-Poulter, C. The mammalian CTLH complex possesses E3 ligase activity and targets its peripheral subunit Muskelin for degradation. *Manuscript in preparation*.

6 Appendices

Appendix 1 Raw pBARL and pRL data obtained from luciferase assay performed in HeLa RanBPM downregulated transfected with HA-RanBPM.



Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Christopher Chiasson
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2011-2016 B. Sc
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2016-2016 M. Sc
Honours and Awards:	Western Scholarship of Excellence 2011
	Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada Undergraduate Student Research Award (NSERC-USRA) 2015
	Deans Honour List 2014, 2016
	Dr. D.S.M. Haines Gold Medal and Book Prize 2016
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2017 – 2018
	Research Assistant A&L Laboratories Canada Inc 2014-2015

Publications:

Maitland, M., Onea, G., Chiasson C., Wang, X., Ma, J., Barber, K., Moor, S., Lajoie, G., Shaw, G., Schild-Poulter, C. The mammalian CTLH complex possesses E3 ligase activity and targets its peripheral subunit Muskelin for degradation. *Manuscript in preparation*.

Abstracts:

Chiasson, C and Schild-Poulter, C. Regulation of β -catenin signalling by CTLH complex. 14th annual Oncology Research and Education Day London, ON June 16th, 2017

Chiasson, C and Schild-Poulter, C. Regulation of β -catenin signalling by CTLH complex. 5th annual Robarts Research Retreat London, ON June 20th, 2017

Chiasson, C and Schild-Poulter, C. Regulation of β -catenin signalling by CTLH complex. 15th annual Oncology Research and Education Day London, ON June 8th, 2017